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NOTICE TO READERS

This publication, Compilation and Review Engagements—Essential Questions and Answers, is a 
Practice Aid that provides CPAs with answers to frequently asked and key questions on practice 
issues and professional standards related to compilation and review engagements.

This Practice Aid is an Other Compilation and Review Publication as defined in Statement on 
Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARS) No. 11, Standards for Accounting and 
Review Services (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 2, AR sec. 50). Other Compilation and 
Review Publications have no authoritative status; however, they may help the accountant under­
stand and apply the SSARS.

If you apply the guidance included in an Other Compilation and Review Publication, you should 
be satisfied that, in your judgment, it is both appropriate and relevant to the circumstances of 
your engagement. This Practice Aid has been reviewed by the AICPA Audit and Attest Stan­
dards staff and published by the AICPA, and is presumed to be appropriate. This document has 
not been approved, disapproved, or otherwise acted on by a senior technical committee of the 
AICPA.

Copyright © 2005 by
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.
New York, NY 10036-8775

All rights reserved. For information about the procedure for requesting permission to make copies of any 
part of this work, please call the AICPA Copyright Permissions Hotline at (201) 938-3245. A Permissions 
Request Form for e-mailing requests is available at www.aicpa.org by clicking on the copyright notice on 
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Introduction

INTRODUCTION

This Practice Aid is the most extensive compendium of questions and answers about compilation 
and review services in the marketplace. The content was assembled by CPAs with extensive 
knowledge and experience in the compilation and review arena. The questions and answers were 
developed from inquiries received by the AICPA Accounting and Auditing Technical Hotline, 
the AICPA Technical Practice Aids, the AICPA Ethics division, and from the collective knowl­
edge and experience of the authors.

Standards and Guidance Associated With
Compilations and Reviews

Engagements to compile or review financial statements of nonpublic entities are governed by 
Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARS), which are issued by the 
Accounting and Review Services Committee (ARSC). The ARSC is the senior technical com­
mittee of the AICPA designated to issue enforceable standards in connection with the unaudited 
financial statements or other unaudited financial information of a nonpublic entity.

The ARSC develops and issues standards in the form of SSARS through a due process that in­
cludes deliberations in meetings open to the public, public exposure of proposed SSARS, and a 
formal vote. You should have sufficient knowledge of the SSARS to identify those that are ap­
plicable to your engagement. The nature of the SSARS requires you to exercise professional 
judgment in applying them and you should be prepared to justify departures from the SSARS. 
The ARSC has issued the pronouncements listed below. This Practice Aid reflects SSARS issued 
through SSARS No. 11.

• SSARS No. 1, Compilation and Review of Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Stan­
dards, vol. 2, AR sec. 100) (December 1978)

— Defines the compilation of financial statements and the review of financial statements of a 
nonpublic entity and provides guidance to accountants concerning the standards and pro­
cedures applicable to such engagements.

• SSARS No. 2, Reporting on Comparative Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Stan­
dards, vol. 2, AR sec. 200) (October 1979)

— Establishes standards for reporting on comparative financial statements of a nonpublic en­
tity when financial statements of one or more periods presented have been compiled and 
reported on or reviewed in accordance with SSARS No. 1.

1



Compilation and Review Engagements—Essential Questions and Answers

• SSARS No. 3, Compilation Reports on Financial Statements Included in Certain Prescribed 
Forms (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 2, AR sec. 300) (December 1981)

— Amends SSARS No. 1 and No. 2 to provide for an alternative form of standard compila­
tion report when a prescribed form or related instructions call for departure from generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) by specifying a measurement principal not in con­
formity with GAAP or failing to request the disclosures required by GAAP. It applies to 
any standard, preprinted form designed or adopted by the body to which it is submitted 
(for example, a bank).

• SSARS No. 4, Communications Between Predecessor and Successor Accountants (AICPA, 
Professional Standards, vol. 2, AR sec. 400) (December 1981)

— Provides guidance on communications between a predecessor and successor accountant 
when the successor accountant decides to communicate with the predecessor accountant 
regarding acceptance of an engagement to compile or review the financial statements of a 
nonpublic entity. It also provides guidance on inquiries a successor accountant may wish 
to make of a predecessor, and the predecessor’s responses, to facilitate the conduct of the 
successor’s compilation or review engagement. It also requires a successor accountant 
who becomes aware of information that leads him or her to believe the financial state­
ments reported on by the predecessor accountant may require revision to request that the 
client communicate this information to the predecessor accountant. It does not require 
communication.

• SSARS No. 5, Reporting on Compiled Financial Statements (July 1982) (Deleted November 
1992 by the issuance of SSARS No. 7)

— All the former SSARS No. 5 requirements are now included in AR sections 100, 200, and 
300 of the Codification of Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services.

• SSARS No. 6, Reporting on Personal Financial Statements Included in Written Personal Fi­
nancial Plans (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 2, AR sec. 600) (September 1986)

— Provides an exemption from SSARS No. 1, as amended, for personal financial statements 
that are included in written personal financial plans prepared by the accountant, and speci­
fies the form of written report required under the exemption.

• SSARS No. 7, Omnibus Statement on Standards for Accounting and Review Services—1992 
(November 1992)

— Clarifies the applicability of SSARS No. 1 by indicating that in certain circumstances, an 
accountant may perform a review of a public company under the provisions of SSARS.

— Inserts a footnote in paragraph 4 of SSARS No. 1 to indicate that the definition of gener­
ally accepted accounting principles and the hierarchy of established accounting principles 
presented in SAS No. 69, The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally 
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Accepted Accounting Principles (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 411), as 
amended, is also applicable to compilations and reviews of financial statements performed 
under SSARS. It also expands an existing footnote to paragraph 4 to indicate the source of 
guidance for evaluating the adequacy of disclosure in financial statements prepared in 
conformity with a comprehensive basis of accounting other than GAAP. It also adds a 
footnote to paragraph 4 that informs the reader of sources of guidance for preparing and 
reporting on financial forecasts, projections, and similar presentations.

— Eliminates the prohibition against merely typing or reproducing financial statements as an 
accommodation to a client and defines the phrase “submission of financial statements.”

— Makes explicit that the accountant is not required to communicate to a client errors that 
are not material and irregularities or illegal acts that are clearly inconsequential.

— Revises the SSARS review report to differentiate it from the review report presented in 
SAS No. 71, Interim Financial Information.

— Makes obtaining a client representation letter a required, rather than optional, procedure 
when performing a review engagement under SSARS.

— Clarifies the accountant’s reporting responsibilities in a compilation or review engagement 
when he or she decides there is uncertainty about an entity’s ability to continue as a going 
concern.

— Clarifies the guidance in paragraphs 44 through 49 of SSARS No. 1 concerning a change 
in engagement from audit to review or compilation to indicate that the guidance in those 
paragraphs is also applicable to a change in engagement from review to compilation.

— Modifies the introductory paragraph of SSARS No. 4 to inform the reader that the State­
ment provides guidance on required as well as optional communications between a suc­
cessor and a predecessor accountant.

— Deletes footnote 2 of paragraph 3 of SSARS No. 4 because that footnote is inconsistent 
with SAS No. 7, Communications Between Predecessor and Successor Auditors.

— Deletes SSARS No. 5 because the provisions of that Statement have been incorporated 
into SSARS No. 1, No. 2, and No. 3.

• SSARS No. 8, Amendment to Statement on Standards for Accounting and Review Services No. 
1, Compilation and Review of Financial Statements (October 2000)

— Amends SSARS No. 1 to create new options for accountants when performing compila­
tion engagements in which the financial statements are not expected to be used by a third 
party, and also allows the accountant to use his or her professional judgment in dealing 
with the client.
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• SSARS No. 9, Omnibus Statement on Standards for Accounting and Review Services—2002 
(November 2002)

— Revises SSARS No. 1 to include wording that may be appropriate when an accountant is 
associated with financial statements of a nonpublic entity, but has not compiled or re­
viewed such statements.

— Revises SSARS No. 1 to state that (1) the statement of retained earnings is not a required 
statement and, if not presented as a separate statement, reference in the compilation and 
review report is not needed and (2) if the statement of comprehensive income is presented, 
reference should be made to the appropriate paragraphs of the report.

— Revises SSARS No. 1 to require a signature of the accounting firm or the accountant on a 
review or compilation report.

— Requires specific representations for the accountant to receive from management when 
performing a review engagement and provides guidance on the dating of the representa­
tion letter from management and guidance regarding obtaining representations from the 
current management when they are not present during all periods covered by the account­
ant’s report.

— Explicitly allows for a separate report on supplementary information in a compilation en­
gagement, consistent with guidance on supplemental information in a review report.

— Clarifies that although an effective quality control system is conducive to compliance with 
SSARS, deficiencies in or noncompliance with a firm’s quality control systems do not, in 
and of themselves, indicate that an engagement was not performed in accordance with the 
applicable professional standards.

— Defines predecessor accountant and successor accountant, provides guidance regarding 
the acceptance of an engagement, suggests inquiries the successor accountant may decide 
to ask the predecessor accountant, and includes an example successor accountant ac­
knowledgment letter, which the predecessor may want to use in connection with granting 
access to the engagement documentation.

• SSARS No. 10, Performance of Review Engagements (May 2004)

— Amends SSARS No. 1 by expanding on previously provided guidance on analytical pro­
cedures, inquiries, and other review procedures Provides inquiries regarding fraud in a re­
view engagement.

— Requires representations regarding fraud in the management representation letter.

— Clarifies and provides guidance regarding documentation in a review engagement.
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• SSARS No. 11, Standards for Accounting and Review Services (AICPA, Professional Stan­
dards, vol. 2, AR sec. 50) (May 2004)

— Establishes a “SSARS Hierarchy.”

Other Sources of Guidance
Interpretative Publications

Interpretative publications consist of Interpretations of the SSARS and appendixes to the 
SSARS, compilation and review guidance included in AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides, and 
AICPA Statements of Position (SOP), to the extent that those SOPs are applicable to compilation 
and review engagements. Interpretative publications are not standards for accounting and review 
services but are recommendations on the application of the SSARS in specific circumstances. 
You should be aware of and consider interpretative publications applicable to your compilation 
or review. If you do not apply the guidance included in an applicable interpretative publication, 
you should be prepared to explain how you complied with the SSARS provisions addressed by 
such guidance.

Other Publications

Other compilation and review publications include AICPA accounting and review publications 
not referred to above; the AICPA’s annual Compilation and Review Alert; compilation and re­
view articles in the Journal of Accountancy and other professional journals; compilation and re­
view articles in the AICPA CPA Letter; continuing professional education programs and other 
instruction materials, textbooks, guide books, compilation and review programs, and checklists; 
and other compilation and review publications from state CPA societies, other organizations, and 
individuals. The accountant is not expected to be aware of the full body of other compilation and 
review publications. These publications have no authoritative status; however, they may help you 
understand and apply the SSARS.

If you apply the guidance included in an other compilation and review publication, you should be 
satisfied that, in your judgment, it is both relevant to the circumstances of the engagement, and 
appropriate. Other compilation and review publications published by the AICPA that have been 
reviewed by the AICPA Audit and Attest Standards staff are presumed to be appropriate. This 
publication has been reviewed by the Audit and Attest Standards staff.
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General Questions About Compilation and Review Engagements

General Questions About Compilation and Review Engagements

Question—Does an accountant have to be a member of the AICPA to perform compilation and 
review engagements? Does the accountant have to be a CPA or a public accountant?

Answer—SSARS do not address the issue of AICPA membership as a requirement for compil­
ing or reviewing financial statements of a nonpublic entity. However, one element of the compi­
lation and review report is a statement that the compilation (review) has been “performed in ac­
cordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.” In addition, many state boards of account­
ancy restrict the performance of compilation and review engagements to CPAs. You should 
check with the board of accountancy in your state for guidance on this issue.

Question—May an accountant use paraprofessionals in a compilation or review engagement?

Answer—Yes. You may use assistants (including paraprofessionals) in a review or compilation 
engagement, assuming the assistants are competent. However, Rule 201C, General Standards 
(AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 2, ET sec. 201.01) states that you should “adequately plan 
and supervise the performance of professional services.” In addition, Interpretation No. 5, “Plan­
ning and Supervision,” of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 9100.16-.17) notes that although SAS No. 22, 
Planning and Supervision (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 311), does not gov­
ern compilation and review engagements, you may wish to consider the guidance in SAS No. 22 
when additional information on planning and supervision is needed. Of course, you, as the ac­
countant, must sign the compilation or review report and thus take responsibility for the entire 
engagement, including the work of any assistants, and any assurance provided in the account­
ant’s report.

Question—A client has asked that an accountant read its client-prepared financial statements and 
propose correcting journal entries and disclosures to the financial statements that would change 
the financial statements. The accountant will not directly modify the financial statements. Would 
this be considered submitting financial statements? How should these correcting journal entries 
and disclosures be communicated to the client? Can they be communicated orally or in written 
form?

Answer—SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.04) defines submission of financial statements as “pre­
senting to a client or third parties financial statements that the accountant has prepared either 
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manually or through the use of computer software.” Reading client-prepared financial statements 
and proposing correcting journal entries, disclosures, or both would not meet the definition of 
submitting financial statements, since these services do not constitute preparing financial state­
ments. Therefore, these journal entries and disclosures could be communicated to the client in 
any way that you choose. They could be communicated orally or in written form.

Question—Refer to the previous question and assume that these statements will be transmitted to 
a bank. The bank has requested that the accountant attach a letter stating there are no material 
adjustments to be made to the client-prepared financial statements. May the accountant attach 
such a letter?

Answer—No. You should not attach such a letter to client-prepared financial statements. Based 
on simply proposing correcting journal entries and disclosures and reading the client-prepared fi­
nancial statements, you would not be in a position to express such assurance on the financial 
statements. If the client, the bank, or both needed assurance on the financial statements, you 
would need to review or audit the financial statements and issue the appropriate report.

Question—A CPA firm has been engaged to perform accounting functions for a client. The 
functions include recording transactions in the client’s accounting system, preparing checks, and 
preparing various monthly and quarterly reconciliations. At year end, the CPA firm also prepares 
GAAP basis financial statements, which are then audited by another CPA firm. Must a compila­
tion report be issued for the year-end financial statements?

Answer—Yes. According to Interpretation No. 21, “Applicability of SSARS No. 1 When Per­
forming Controllership or Other Management Services” of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 9100.80-.84), 
if you are in the practice of public accounting and are not a stockholder, partner, director, officer, 
or employee of the entity and provide the entity with services such as those above, you must 
follow the performance and communication requirements of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100), in­
cluding any requirement to disclose a lack of independence.

Question—Using client information, the accountant prepares financial statements in the CPA’s 
office for use in preparing a corporate income tax return, and the financial statements are not 
given to the client. Is this considered submission of financial statements?

Answer—No. SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.04) defines submission of financial statements as 
“presenting to a client or third parties financial statements that the accountant has prepared either 
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manually or through the use of computer software.” Since the financial statements are not pre­
sented to the client or others, the financial statements are not submitted and SSARS No. 1 would 
not apply.

Question—A firm recently installed a server that will enable some of its clients to access the 
firm’s computer system via a network. The client will input all information into the firm’s com­
puter system, including journal entries, and will be able to prepare its own financial statements, 
which will be received via the network. No one in the accounting firm directly inputs data or sees 
the financial statements. Is the accounting firm required to compile these financial statements in 
accordance with SSARS No. 1?

Answer—No. According to AICPA Technical Practice Aids (TPA) section 9150.11, “Computer 
Generated Financial Statements,” if the client directly inputs data from its office, you do not 
have a reporting responsibility.

Question—Assume the same facts as in the previous question, but the CPA firm posts journal 
entries and generates the financial statements in the CPA firm’s office. Is the accounting firm re­
quired to compile these financial statements in accordance with SSARS No. 1?

Answer—Yes. According to TPA section 9150.11, if the financial statements are generated in 
the firm’s office and presented to the client or others, you would be required to compile and re­
port on the financial statements in accordance with SSARS No. 1.

Question—Can an accountant accept a compilation or review engagement that includes only a 
single financial statement?

Answer—Yes. SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.15 and 100.43) states that you are not precluded from 
doing so. Therefore, you can compile a single financial statement or review a single financial 
statement if the scope of your inquiry and analytical procedures has not been restricted. How­
ever, when you compile or review only one financial statement but a complete set of financial 
statements is presented, the financial statements that were not compiled or reviewed should be 
accompanied by an indication that you did not compile or review those financial statements and 
that you assume no responsibility for them. For example, the indication may be worded as fol­
lows:

9
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This financial statement has not been audited, reviewed, or compiled by [name of CPA]. For 
this reason, the CPA accepts no responsibility for the preparation of the financial statement 
and provides no assurance that the financial statement is prepared in accordance with 
GAAP.

Question—What procedures should be applied if the accountant becomes aware that facts may 
have existed at the date of the accountant’s compilation or review report that might have caused 
him or her to believe that information supplied by the entity was incorrect, incomplete, or other­
wise unsatisfactory had the accountant been aware of such facts?

Answer—SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.48) notes that under this circumstance, standards estab­
lished in SAS No. 1, Codification of Auditing Standards and Procedures (AICPA, Professional 
Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 561, “Subsequent Discovery of Facts Existing at the Date of the 
Auditor’s Report”), as amended, may be applied in the context of a compilation engagement or 
review engagement. Based on the guidance in SAS No. 1 (AU sec. 561), you are under no obli­
gation to perform additional procedures after the date of the report, unless new information 
comes to your attention that suggests the financial statements may be incorrect.

When you become aware of matters that appear to have existed at the date of the report, you 
should contact the client to determine whether those matters did in fact exist at that date. Ac­
cording to Interpretation No. 4, “Discovery of Information After the Date of the Accountant’s 
Report,” of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 9100.13-.15), if you conclude that the matter did exist at the 
report date, you should determine whether the following conditions apply:

• The report would have been affected if you had known the information at the date of the com­
pilation report.

• The matter would have been reflected in the financial statements.

• You believe that there are third-party users relying on or likely to rely on the financial state­
ments who would attach importance to the subsequently discovered information.

Because of legal implications involved in these actions, you should consider consulting with an 
attorney before proceeding.

If the conditions previously described exist, you should advise the client to fully inform third- 
party users currently relying or likely to rely on the financial statements and the associated report 
of the subsequently discovered facts and their impact.

You should take appropriate steps to determine that the client has communicated properly with 
third-party users. If the client refuses to make appropriate disclosures to third-party users, you 
should inform each member of the board of directors of the refusal. (In the event that the client 
does not have a board of directors, you should inform legal counsel). If the board of directors is 
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notified but appropriate disclosures to third-party users still are not made, you should discuss the 
matter with legal counsel. If you believe there are or will be third-party users who will rely on 
the financial statements and the associated report and who would attach importance to the infor­
mation, you should take steps to prevent reliance on your report.

Although a compilation report does not express any form of assurance on the financial state­
ments, it would seldom be appropriate for an accountant to conclude, simply because his or her 
responsibilities were limited to a compilation service, that notification of third-party users in the 
absence of notification by the client is not required when the accountant knows that the financial 
statements should be revised.

Question—An accountant compiles financial statements with substantially all disclosures omit­
ted. The accountant drafts a comprehensive engagement letter indicating that detection of fraud 
is not the accountant’s responsibility. In this litigious society, the accountant wants to make this 
agreement with his or her client clear not only to the client, but also to any third party that uses 
the compilation report. Could the accountant attach a copy of the engagement letter directly to 
the financial statements as “supplementary information”? Could the accountant reference the en­
gagement letter or his or her lack of responsibility for fraud detection in the compilation report?

Answer—No. Even though footnote 23 of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.46) states, “Nothing in 
this statement, however, is intended to preclude an accountant from emphasizing in a separate 
paragraph of his or her report a matter regarding the financial statements” (emphasis added), the 
engagement letter is a contract between you and your client and, as such, is not a matter regard­
ing the financial statements. Rather, it is a matter regarding the nature of the compilation en­
gagement. Therefore, it would not be appropriate to make such a reference in your compilation 
report. However, nothing in SSARS precludes you from attaching a copy of the engagement let­
ter to the compilation report when you deliver the report to the client. However, the client may 
remove the engagement letter when the client submits the report and the related financial state­
ments to third parties.

Question—A CPA who is a controller for a privately held company wants to issue compiled fi­
nancial statements and attach a compilation report for the company. May the controller use the 
standard compilation report?

Answer—Interpretation No. 21 of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 9100.80-.84) states that if you are in 
the practice of public accounting and also a stockholder, partner, director, officer, or employee of 
the entity, you may either (1) comply with the requirements of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100), or 
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(2) communicate, preferably in writing, your relationship to the entity. Interpretation No. 21 pro­
vides the following example of the type of communication that may be used:

The accompanying balance sheet of Company X as of December 31, 20XX, and the related 
statements of income and cash flows for the year then ended have been prepared by [name 
of accountant], CPA. I have prepared such financial statements in my capacity as [describe 
capacity, for example, as a director} of Company X.

If an accountant is not in the practice of public accounting, the issuance of a report under SSARS 
would be inappropriate; however, the above communication may be used.

Question—An accountant has been contacted by a potential new client to compile financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 20XX. The financial statements for the same period 
were audited by another accounting firm. The client argues that the inventory number reported in 
the audited financial statements is incorrect and has engaged an outside firm to count the inven­
tory. The client is requesting that the accountant compile the financial statements using the re­
counted inventory amount. Can the accountant agree to its request?

Answer—Yes. However, you would have to consider, based on your professional judgment, 
whether the changed inventory number is a reasonable justification to change the engagement 
(given that the cost to the client of having the predecessor firm reaudit the inventory number pre­
sumably would not be significant). In addition, you would have several responsibilities in this 
situation. First, SSARS No. 4 (AR sec. 400.10), requires that you request the client to communi­
cate this information to the predecessor accountant. In addition, you should advise the client to 
fully inform third-party users currently relying or likely to rely on the financial statements and 
the associated report of the subsequently discovered facts and their impact. If the client refuses to 
communicate with the predecessor accountant and third parties or if you are not satisfied with the 
predecessor accountant’s course of action, you should not agree to compile the financial state­
ments. Finally, if you compile and report on the restated prior-period financial statements, you 
should not refer to the predecessor’s previously issued report.

Given the nature of the client’s request, you should strongly consider communicating with the 
predecessor accountant in accordance with SSARS No. 4 before the acceptance of the engage­
ment to compile the financial statements.

Question—An accountant has been retained by a client whose financial statements at December 
31, 20X1, were audited by another CPA firm. The accountant has been engaged to review the fi­
nancial statements at December 31, 20X2. An error in the audited financial statements resulted in 
income being overstated. The prior auditor has written a letter to all known users of the state­
ments indicating the financial statements are incorrect and cannot be relied upon. Before the ac­
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countant begins the review engagement, the opening balance sheet needs to be adjusted for the 
errors at December 31, 20X1. Would it be appropriate to compile the financial statements at De­
cember 31, 20X1, to reflect the correct opening balances?

Answer—Yes. SSARS No. 2 (AR sec. 200.25) states that either the predecessor or the successor 
accountant should report on the changed prior-period financial statements as restated. If you 
compile and report on the restated prior-period financial statements, you should not refer to the 
predecessor’s previously issued report. Further, SSARS No. 2 (AR sec. 200.26) states that you 
may wish to include an explanatory paragraph in your compilation report with respect to the re­
statement, but you should not otherwise modify the standard compilation report, provided the fi­
nancial statements appropriately disclose such matters.

Question—An accountant has been engaged to compile or review the financial statements of an 
entity and is later requested to perform a higher level of service with respect to the financial 
statements. Is the acceptance of such an engagement appropriate?

Answer—Yes. SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100) does not prohibit you from accepting an engagement 
to perform a higher level of service with respect to financial statements that have been previously 
compiled or reviewed.

Question—A client is trying to secure financing from a bank. The bank has required audited fi­
nancial statements to secure the financing. During the course of the audit, the bank agrees that 
audited financial statements are not necessary. Is it appropriate to change the level of service to a 
review?

Answer—Yes. SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.52) states that a change in circumstances that affects 
the client’s requirement for an audit (or review) would ordinarily be considered a reasonable ba­
sis for requesting a change in the level of service.

Question—SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.13 and 100.40) states that each page of the financial 
statements compiled or reviewed by the accountant should include a reference such as “See Ac­
countant’s Compilation or Review Report.” Does this requirement extend to the related notes of 
the financial statement?

Answer—Yes. SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.04) defines financial statement as “a presentation of 
financial data, including accompanying notes, derived from accounting records and intended to 
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communicate an entity’s economic resources or obligations at a point in time, or the changes 
therein for a period of time, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principals 
(GAAP) or a comprehensive basis of accounting other than GAAP” (footnotes omitted). There­
fore, the statement that each page of the financial statements compiled or reviewed should in­
clude a reference such as “See Accountant’s Compilation (or Review) Report” extends to the ac­
companying notes.

Question—Should each page of compiled or reviewed financial statements of nonpublic compa­
nies be labeled “unaudited”?

Answer—No. SSARS do not require that each page of the financial statements be labeled “unau­
dited.” Before the issuance of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100), it was common practice to label each 
page as “unaudited”; however, this practice was discontinued after the issuance of SSARS No. 1 
because the term unaudited does not convey to the reader the financial statement service per­
formed.

Question—An accountant has been compiling full disclosure GAAP financial statements for a 
client for several years. The client has recently expressed concern about the cost for these serv­
ices. Are there other options to full disclosure GAAP financial statements?

Answer—Yes. You could offer any or a combination of the following services to the client, de­
pending on its needs. Each of these options, depending on the firm’s fee structure and the nature 
of the engagement, may be less costly than full disclosure GAAP financial statements.

• OCBOA financial statements (time savings on measurement issues)

• Compiled financial statements with substantially all disclosures omitted

• Compiled financial statements for management’s use only

14



Questions About Accounting Principles

Questions About Accounting Principles

Question—Do different GAAP apply to audited financial statements and compiled or reviewed 
financial statements?

Answer—No. Footnote 5 of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.04) states that the definition of GAAP 
and the hierarchy of established accounting principles presented in SAS No. 69, The Meaning of 
Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (AICPA, Profes­
sional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 411), is also applicable to compiled and reviewed financial 
statements.

Question—Is a statement of cash flows required for every period in which an income statement 
is presented?

Answer—A statement of cash flows is required by GAAP. Financial Accounting Standards 
Board (FASB) Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows, 
states that “a business enterprise that provides a set of financial statements that reports both fi­
nancial position and results of operations shall provide a statement of cash flows for each period 
for which results of operations are provided.” However, Interpretation No. 14, “Evaluating the 
Adequacy of Disclosure in Financial Statements Prepared on the Cash, Modified Cash, or In­
come Tax Basis of Accounting,” of SAS No. 62, Special Reports (AICPA, Professional Stan­
dards, vol. 1, AU sec. 9623.94), states that a statement of cash flows is not required in presenta­
tions using the cash, modified cash, or income tax basis of accounting. In addition, the statement 
of cash flows may be omitted, even if required, in compiled financial statements if the omission 
is clearly indicated in the compilation report and is not, to the accountant’s knowledge, under­
taken with the intent of misleading those who might reasonably be expected to use such financial 
statements.

Question—A client has found that complying with FASB Statement No. 142, Goodwill and 
Other Intangible Assets, is cost prohibitive. What options does the client have?

Answer—FASB Statement No. 142 requires that goodwill be tested annually for impairment 
rather than amortized to earnings. Many small businesses have found that the costs associated 
with performing the annual test impairment far exceed the benefit of the test. Therefore, if a cli­
ent opts not to adopt FASB Statement No. 142 (or any other FASB Statement), you should con­
sider whether modification of the standard compilation or review report is adequate to disclose 
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the departure. If you conclude that modification of the standard compilation or review report is 
appropriate, the departure should be disclosed in a separate paragraph of the report, including 
disclosure of the effects of the departure on the financial statements if such effects have been 
determined by management or are known as the result of your procedures. You are not required 
to determine the effects of a departure if management has not done so, provided that you state in 
your report that such determination has not been made.

Question—What is the accountant’s responsibility for GAAP departures discovered during the 
course of a compilation or review engagement?

Answer—You should discuss the GAAP departure with the client. If the client does not revise 
the financial statements, the GAAP departure should be referenced in the compilation or review 
report. If you believe that modification of the standard report is not sufficient to indicate the de­
ficiencies in the financial statements taken as a whole, you should consider withdrawing from the 
compilation or review engagement and provide no further services with respect to those financial 
statements. You may wish to consult with your legal counsel in those circumstances.

Question—Can the accountant modify the compilation or review report to indicate that the fi­
nancial statements are not fairly presented in conformity with GAAP (or an other comprehensive 
basis of accounting (OCBOA))?

Answer—No. Expressing such a conclusion in a compilation or review report would be tanta­
mount to an adverse opinion on the financial statements taken as a whole. Interpretation No. 7, 
“Reporting When There Are Significant Departures From Generally Accepted Accounting Prin­
ciples,” of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 9100.23-.26) states that such an opinion can be expressed 
only in the context of an audit engagement.

Question—Is a statement of retained earnings required? Should the omission of the statement of 
retained earnings be referred to in the report?

Answer—Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 9, Reporting the Results of Opera­
tions, states that the statement of income and the statement of retained earnings (separately or 
combined) are designed to reflect, in a broad sense, the “results of operations.” Therefore, to pre­
sent results of operations under GAAP, changes in retained earnings must be disclosed. Based on 
Interpretation No. 14 of SAS No. 62 (AU sec. 9623.90), OCBOA financial statements also 
should disclose the changes in retained earnings when results of operations are presented. This
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disclosure can be made in a separate financial statement, in the notes to the financial statements, 
or as part of another basic statement (such as the income statement or balance sheet). As long as 
the change in retained earnings is disclosed in one of these ways, there is no need to refer to the 
omission of a statement of retained earnings.

Question—Must the accountant present a separate statement of comprehensive income? If an ac­
countant compiles full disclosure financial statements, but omits the display of comprehensive 
income, is that considered a departure from GAAP?

Answer—According to FASB Statement No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income, all busi­
ness entities that have any component of other comprehensive income must display information 
about comprehensive income in a financial statement having the same prominence as the other 
basic financial statements. If an entity does not have any components of other comprehensive in­
come, FASB Statement No. 130 does not apply. As a result, most small business clients do not 
have to apply FASB Statement No. 130.

FASB Statement No. 130 does not specify a format for presenting comprehensive income, al­
though it provides three examples:

1. Presenting the information in the income statement (after net income)

2. Presenting the information in the statement of changes in equity

3. Presenting the information in a separate statement of comprehensive income

The wording of the introductory paragraph of the compilation or review report may have to be 
modified depending on how you choose to report comprehensive income. If comprehensive in­
come is reported in the income statement, the title of the statement will need to be modified 
(Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income). If comprehensive income is reported in the 
statement of changes in equity, no modification to the report is necessary. If comprehensive in­
come is reported in a separate statement, an additional statement will need to be referenced in the 
report.

In addition, Interpretation No. 25, “Omission of the Display of Comprehensive Income in a 
Compilation,” of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 9100.95-.99) states that the display of comprehensive 
income may be omitted when the accountant issues a compilation report with substantially all 
disclosures omitted by identifying the omission in the compilation report or engagement letter 
(for a management-use-only compilation). If the accountant compiles financial statements that 
include all disclosures but omit the display of comprehensive income, the omission should be 
treated as a departure from GAAP.
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Additionally, if an element of comprehensive income has not been computed, for example, unre­
alized gains and losses arising from investments in marketable securities classified as “available 
for sale” the accountant should consider a departure from GAAP and follow the guidance in 
SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.45-.47).
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Questions About Engagement Administration

Question—Can an accountant review a client’s financial statements if he or she is not independ­
ent?

Answer—No. You are prohibited from issuing a review report if you are not independent.

Question—Can an accountant compile a client’s financial statements if he or she is not inde­
pendent?

Answer—Yes. However, the compilation report must disclose the lack of independence. The 
reasons for the lack of independence should not be disclosed, according to SSARS No. 1 (AR 
sec. 100.19). However, it may be appropriate to explain the reasons for your lack of independ­
ence to the client or third parties, either orally or in a transmittal letter.

Question—If an AICPA member performs routine bookkeeping services for a review or compi­
lation client, what is the level of understanding that the client designee should possess to comply 
with Interpretation No. 101-3, “Performance of Nonattest Services,” under Rule of Conduct 101, 
Independence (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 2, ET sec. 101.05)?

Answer—Where the member performs routine bookkeeping services for a review or compilation 
client, the member should be satisfied that the designated individual understands the reason why 
the journal entries are being proposed and the effect they have on the financial statements. For 
recurring or standard journal entries (for example, depreciation), the designated individual may 
require no explanation as to the reason for the entry (for example, where the member has previ­
ously discussed these entries with the client), whereas for more complex journal entries (for ex­
ample, deferred taxes), the member may need to explain to the client the reason and basis for the 
entry and its impact on the financial statements. In any case, the individual should be in a posi­
tion to approve the proposed journal entries and accept responsibility for the company’s financial 
statements.

Question—One of the requirements of Interpretation No. 101-3, “Performance of Nonattest 
Services,” under Rule of Conduct 101, Independence (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 2, 
ET sec. 101.05), is that, prior to performing nonattest services for an attest client, the member 
should establish and document in writing his or her understanding with the client regarding the:
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• Objectives of the engagement

• Services to be performed

• Client’s acceptance of its responsibilities

• Member’s responsibilities

• Any limitations of the engagement

How does this documentation requirement affect compilation and review services?

Answer—The documentation requirement applies to any nonattest services (for example, book­
keeping, tax, or consulting services) performed by the member for an attest client. For purposes 
of this rule, an “attest client” is any client for which the member performs any service for which 
independence is required. Accordingly, for purposes of this rule, a client for which a member 
performs a compilation would only be considered an attest client if the member’s compilation 
report does not disclose a lack of independence. In cases where a member only provides nonat­
test services to a client, the general requirements of the interpretation, including the documenta­
tion requirement, are not effective until the client becomes an attest client. For example, if a 
member provides only tax planning and bookkeeping services for a client and is subsequently 
asked to perform a review of the client’s financial statements, that member could perform such 
services if, upon acceptance of the review engagement, he or she prepares the required docu­
mentation and can demonstrate that he or she has complied with the other general requirements 
of the Interpretation during the period covered by the financial statements, including the re­
quirement to establish an understanding with the client regarding the matters identified above.

Question—When a successor accountant decides to contact a predecessor accountant, is it neces­
sary to obtain permission from the client? Must the permission be in written form?

Answer—SSARS No. 4 (AR sec. 400.04) requires that the successor accountant request permis­
sion from the prospective client before contacting the predecessor accountant. The permission 
from the client does not have to be in written form.

Question—Are there any requirements for communications between successor and predecessor 
accountants in a review or compilation engagement?

Answer—Unlike the auditing standards, SSARS do not require a successor accountant to com­
municate with the predecessor accountant. However, if the successor accountant decides to 
communicate with the predecessor accountant, SSARS No. 4 (AR sec. 400) provides guidance 
on the communications.
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Question—During the course of a review engagement, the accountant discovers that the prior­
period financial statements reported on by another accountant are in error. What should the ac­
countant do?

Answer—SSARS No. 4 (AR sec. 400.10) requires that you request the client to communicate 
this information to the predecessor accountant. If the client refuses to communicate with the 
predecessor accountant or if you are not satisfied with the predecessor accountant’s course of ac­
tion, you should evaluate (1) possible implications for the current engagement and (2) whether to 
resign from the engagement. Furthermore, you may decide to consult with legal counsel in de­
termining an appropriate course of further action. Finally, if you compile or review and report on 
the restated prior-period financial statements, you should not refer to the predecessor’s previ­
ously issued report.

Question—An accountant was engaged to review financial statements and prepare the entity’s 
corporate tax return. The most recent tax return is under audit by the IRS and the client has with­
held paying the accountant’s fee. The accountant has made several attempts to collect the fee but 
the client is unsatisfied and has decided to retain a new accounting firm. Since the fee remains 
unpaid, must the accounting firm respond to the successor accountant’s inquiries and allow ac­
cess to the working papers?

Answer—SSARS No. 4 (AR sec. 400.06) states that the predecessor accountant should respond 
promptly and fully to the successor accountant’s inquiries, on the basis of known facts. However, 
the predecessor accountant may decide, due to unusual circumstances, not to respond fully to the 
inquiries. SSARS No. 4 (AR sec. 400.06) states that for the purposes of this communication, un­
paid fees are not considered to be an unusual circumstance; however, impending, threatened, or 
potential litigation are considered to be unusual circumstances. It is also customary (but not re­
quired) for the predecessor accountant to allow access to his or her working papers. However, 
SSARS No. 4 (AR sec. 400.08) states that valid business reasons (including but not limited to 
unpaid fees) may lead the predecessor to decide not to allow access to the working papers.

Question—Is an engagement letter required for every compilation engagement or review en­
gagement?

Answer—No. SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.05) states that you should establish an understanding 
with the client, preferably in writing, regarding the services to be performed in a compilation or 
review engagement. While an engagement letter is not specifically required, it is advisable to 
establish the understanding with the client through a written engagement letter. However, if the 
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engagement is to compile financial statements not expected to be used by a third party (manage­
ment-use-only compilation), a written communication is required. That communication may be 
in the form of a compilation report in accordance with the reporting requirements discussed in 
SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.11-19) or an engagement letter, preferably signed by management, 
regarding the services to be performed and the limitations on the use of those financial state­
ments. Examples of illustrative engagement letters for compilation and review engagements are 
included in Appendixes C, D, and E of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100).

Question—A CPA firm is engaged to perform review services and tax preparation for a client. A 
staff member of the CPA firm resigned his position to take a position with the client. The staff 
member, however, agreed to return to work at the CPA firm during the tax season to help with 
corporate and personal tax preparation. Because the staff member has such knowledge of the cli­
ent, his current full-time employer, he has been assigned to prepare the corporate tax return but 
does not work on the review engagement. Is the firm independent with respect to the client?

Answer—No. The staff member would be considered a professional employee of the CPA firm 
since he would provide professional services to the firm’s clients. In accordance with AICPA 
Interpretation No. 101-1, “Interpretation of Rule 101,” under Rule of Conduct 101, Independence 
(AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 2, ET sec. 101.02), the firm’s independence would be im­
paired since, during the period of the review engagement, a professional employee of the firm 
would be associated simultaneously with the client as an employee.

Question—A CPA firm is engaged to perform review services for a client. The bookkeeper at 
the client has taken maternity leave and has asked the CPA firm to provide a staff member to act 
as the bookkeeper while she is on leave. Will this impair the firm’s independence?

Answer—No. If you take the proper steps when providing these bookkeeping services, the firm’s 
independence will not be impaired. According to Interpretation No. 101-3, “Performance of 
Nonattest Services,” under Rule of Conduct 101, Independence (AICPA, Professional Stan­
dards, vol. 2, ET sec. 101.05), the client must agree to perform the following functions in con­
nection with the bookkeeping services:

• Make all management decisions and perform all management functions;

• Designate an individual who possesses suitable skill, knowledge, and/or experience, preferably 
within senior management, to oversee the services;

• Evaluate the adequacy and results of the services performed;

22



Questions About Engagement Administration

• Accept responsibility for the results of the services; and

• Establish and maintain internal controls, including monitoring ongoing activities.

You should be satisfied that the client will be able to meet all these criteria and make an in­
formed judgment on the results of the bookkeeping services. In assessing whether the designated 
individual possesses suitable skill, knowledge, and/or experience, you should be satisfied that 
such individual understands the services to be performed sufficiently to oversee them. However, 
the individual is not required to possess the expertise to perform or reperform the services.

In cases where the client is unable or unwilling to assume these responsibilities (for example, the 
client does not have an individual with suitable skill, knowledge, and/or experience to oversee 
the bookkeeping services provided, or is unwilling to perform such functions due to lack of time 
or desire), the firm’s provision of these services would impair independence.

Before performing nonattest services, you should establish and document in writing your under­
standing with the client (board of directors, audit committee, or management, as appropriate in 
the circumstances) regarding the following:

• Objectives of the engagement

• Services to be performed

• Client’s acceptance of its responsibilities

• Your responsibilities

• Any limitations of the engagement

Question—A CPA no longer in public practice owns a small business. Is it appropriate for the 
CPA to compile and report on the financial statements of her own company?

Answer—No. Interpretation No. 21 of SSARS No. 1 states if an accountant is not in the practice 
of public accounting, the issuance of a report under SSARS would be inappropriate. However, 
the accountant may communicate her relationship to the entity. The following is an example of 
the type of communication that may be used:

The accompanying balance sheet of Company X as of December 31, 20XX, and the related 
statements of income and cash flows for the year then ended have been prepared by [name 
of accountant], CPA. I have prepared such financial statements in my capacity [describe ca­
pacity, for example, as a director} of Company X.
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Question—Are the documentation requirements different for compilation and review engage­
ments? Are the documentation requirements different for management-use-only compilation and 
traditional (third-party use) compilations?

Answer—SSARS do not contain any specific documentation requirements for traditional com­
pilation engagements. For management-use-only compilation engagements, the only requirement 
is to document the understanding with the client through a written engagement letter, preferably 
signed by management, regarding the services to be performed and the limitations on the use of 
those financial statements. The accountant need not obtain such an engagement letter if he or she 
issues a compilation report in accordance with the reporting requirements discussed in SSARS 
No. 1 (AR section 100.11-19). For review engagements, SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.37) states 
that the documentation of the review engagement should include the following:

• The matters covered in your inquiry procedures.

• The analytical procedures performed.

• The expectations as discussed in SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.29), where significant expecta­
tions are not otherwise readily determinable from the documentation of the work performed, 
and factors considered in the development of those expectations.

• Results of the comparison of the expectations to the recorded amounts or ratios developed 
from recorded amounts.

• Any additional procedures performed in response to significant unexpected differences arising 
from the analytical procedures and the results of such additional procedures.

• Unusual matters that you considered during the performance of the review procedures, in­
cluding their disposition.

• The management representation letter.

In addition to these required items, documentation of the compilation or review engagement 
might also include:

• A copy of the engagement letter.

• A working trial balance with supporting schedules.

• Compilation or review program with appropriate notation that procedures required by SSARS 
were performed.

• Checklists for performing review procedures.

• Memoranda summarizing conclusions with respect to the review of the financial statements or 
providing information to support footnotes.

• Written memo or communication with predecessor CPA (if applicable).
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Keep in mind, too, that you are not precluded from supporting your review report by other 
means. For example, written documentation from other engagements (such as compilation or 
consulting engagements) may be used to support your review report. In limited situations, oral 
explanations may provide support. However, oral explanations should be limited to those situa­
tions where you find it necessary to supplement or clarify information contained in the working 
papers. Oral explanations should not be the principal support for the work performed or the con­
clusions reached.

Question—How long should compilation and review working papers be retained?

Answer—SSARS do not address the issue of working paper retention. Thus, working paper re­
tention is a matter of firm policy and professional judgment.
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Questions About Compilation Engagements

Question—What kind of legend is required on compiled financial statements?

Answer—If the financial statements are accompanied by a report, each page of the financial 
statements should include a reference to the report, such as:

“See accountant’s compilation report”

If the financial statements are for management’s use only, each page of the financial statements 
should include a reference to the restricted nature of the financial statements, such as:

“Restricted for Management’s Use Only,” or

“Solely for the information of and use by the management of XYZ Company and not in­
tended to be and should not be used by any other party.”

Question—A bank has engaged an accountant to compile a balance sheet for another entity. The 
bank has possession of the books and records of the entity. Can the accountant issue a compila­
tion report under such circumstances?

Answer—SSARS do not preclude you from issuing a compilation report in such a situation. 
However, SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.08) states that you should possess a general understanding 
of the nature of the entity’s business transactions, the form of its accounting records, the stated 
qualifications of its accounting personnel, the accounting basis on which the financial statements 
are to be presented, and the form and content of the financial statements. According to TPA sec­
tion 9150.18, “Bank Engaged a CPA Firm to Compile a Financial Statement of Another Entity,” 
due to the nature of the engagement, you may not be able to attain a sufficient understanding of 
the client’s business as required by SSARS No. 1 to issue a compilation report on the balance 
sheet.

Question—An accountant prepares a business plan for a client. Included with the business plan 
are unaudited financial statements. Is a compilation report required for this or any other man­
agement consulting services engagement?

Answer—Yes. When financial statements are included with a business plan or any other written 
findings or recommendations of a management consulting services engagement, and are submit­
ted (prepared and presented) to the client or third parties, SSARS is applicable and you must at 
least compile and report on the financial statements.
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One exception to this general rule is found in Interpretation No. 23, “Applicability of Statements 
on Standards for Accounting and Review Services When an Accountant Engaged to Perform a 
Business Valuation Derives Information From an Entity’s Tax Return,” of SSARS No. 1 (AR 
sec. 9100.89-.92). Interpretation No. 23 states that if you derive financial information from an 
entity’s tax return, and such information is presented as part of the business valuation report, 
SSARS do not apply. As discussed in SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.04), under the definition of a 
financial statement, “financial forecasts, projections and similar presentations, and financial 
presentations included in tax returns are not financial statements for purposes of this Statement” 
(footnotes omitted). Therefore, according to Interpretation No. 23, even if you have prepared the 
tax return, you have not prepared financial statements in accordance with SSARS and the finan­
cial information derived from the tax return and presented as part of a business valuation is not 
deemed to be submission of financial statements as contemplated by SSARS No. 1.

When, in the course of performing a business valuation engagement, you derive financial infor­
mation from the client’s tax return, or another accountant’s audited, reviewed, or compiled fi­
nancial statements, or client-prepared financial statements, you should refer to the source of the 
financial information and include an indication in the business valuation report that you have not 
audited, reviewed, or compiled the financial information and that you assume no responsibility 
for the information. The following is an example of wording that may be included in the business 
valuation report that incorporates the requirements of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.03):

In preparing our business valuation report, we have relied upon historical financial informa­
tion provided to us by management and derived from [refer to the appropriate source of the 
information, such as tax return, audit report issued by another auditor, and so on]. This fi­
nancial information has not been audited, reviewed, or compiled by us and accordingly we 
do not express an opinion or any form of assurance on this financial information.

However, if the accountant submits financial statements in the course of performing a business 
valuation as defined in paragraph 4 of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.04), the accountant should, at 
a minimum, comply with the provisions of SSARS applicable to a compilation engagement.

Question—An accountant is in the process of compiling financial statements for the client. The 
accountant has completed a substantial portion of the work on the financial statements but is 
missing certain information and has not yet performed all the required procedures. The account­
ant has labeled the statements “Working Draft.” Is a compilation report required to be attached to 
the draft statement and may the client distribute the draft financial statement?

Answer—No. Interpretation No. 17, “Submitting Draft Financial Statements,” of SSARS No. 1 
(AR sec. 9100.61-.62) states that as long as you intend to submit the financial statements in final 
form and label each page of the draft financial statements as “Draft,” you are not required to at­
tach a report to the draft financial statements. If the client indicates that he or she plans to dis­
tribute the draft financial statements to a bank or other third parties before completion of the 
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compilation engagement, you should inform the client that the best course of action is to wait 
until the compilation of the financial statements is completed.

Question—When the client elects to omit substantially all disclosures in compiled financial 
statements, what is meant by “substantially?”

Answer—The term substantially is not defined in SSARS. Webster’s Dictionary defines sub­
stantially as “to a great extent or degree.” Generally, when the client elects to omit substantially 
all disclosures, in fact, all disclosures are omitted. When the client chooses to include one or 
more disclosures, you must use your professional judgment to determine if substantially all dis­
closures have been omitted.

Question—A client has requested that the accountant compile financial statements that omit sub­
stantially all disclosures even though compiled full disclosure financial statements for the same 
period have just been prepared. Should the accountant agree to the request?

Answer—It depends on the client’s motivation for making such a request. In many small busi­
nesses, the notes contain information about related party transactions and profit sharing. Some 
clients may not want certain users to see such information such as vendors or suppliers. Using 
professional judgment, you need to satisfy yourself that the client has a valid business reason for 
making the request and is not trying to mislead those who might reasonably be expected to use 
such financial statements. If you determine that a valid business reason exists, you should issue 
the appropriate compilation report clearly indicating the omission of substantially all disclosures. 
If no valid reason exists, you should decline the request.

Question—When the client includes more than a few, but not all, required disclosures, can the 
client label notes to the financial statements “Selected Information—Substantially All Disclo­
sures Required by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Are Not Included?”

Answer—Interpretation No. 22, “Use of ‘Selected Information—Substantially All Disclosures 
Required by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Are Not Included,’ ” of SSARS No. 1 
(AR sec. 9100.85-.88), states that when the financial statements include more than a few but not 
all required disclosures, this approach is not appropriate. The omission of one or more notes, 
when substantially all other disclosures are presented, should be treated in a compilation or re­
view report like any other departure from GAAP; the nature of the departure and its effects, if 
known, should be disclosed. You should use your judgment in determining the appropriateness 
of the label.
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Questions About Management-Use-Only Compilation 
Engagements

Question—When an accountant submits financial statements to a nonpublic client that are not 
expected to be used by a third party, must the accountant issue a compilation report?

Answer—You have two communication options. You may issue a compilation report in accor­
dance with SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100). Alternatively, you may document an understanding 
with the entity through the use of an engagement letter, preferably signed by management, re­
garding the services to be performed and the limitations on the use of those financial statements. 
Appendix D of SSARS No. 1 contains an illustrative engagement letter when compiling financial 
statements not intended for third party use.

Question—May an accountant issue a standard compilation report on financial statements that 
have previously been compiled for management’s use only?

Answer—Yes. However, you would have to comply with the reporting requirements in SSARS 
No. 1 (AR sec. 100.11-.19) before issuing the compilation report.

Question—May an accountant compile interim financial statements (for example, monthly or 
quarterly) that are restricted to management’s use only and then issue a standard compilation re­
port on the year-end financial statements?

Answer—Yes. However, the compilation of the year-end financial statements would be consid­
ered a separate engagement and would be subject to both the performance standards and report­
ing standards in SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100).

Question—What should an accountant do if he or she discovers that financial statements that 
were restricted to management’s use only have been distributed to third-parties?

Answer—The first step should be to discuss the situation with the client and remind him or her 
of the restricted nature of the financial statements. You should also request that the client retrieve 
any copies of the financial statements that have been distributed to third-parties. If the client 
complies with this request, no further action is necessary.
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If the client does not comply with this request within a reasonable period of time, you should at­
tempt to notify known third-parties that the financial statements are not intended for third party 
use. Since this action will involve complex legal issues, you should consider consulting with an 
attorney before proceeding.

Question—May an accountant issue a standard compilation report on comparative statements 
when the prior period financial statements were restricted to management’s use only?

Answer—Yes. However, you will have to comply with the SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100) report­
ing requirements for both periods before issuing the report on the comparative statements. In 
other words, the reporting requirements in SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.11-.19) would apply to 
both periods.

Question—May an accountant include supplementary information with management-use-only 
financial statements?

Answer—Yes. You may include supplementary information, which may include charts, graphs, 
tables, or details of financial statement line items with the financial statements. If you decided to 
issue a compilation report in accordance with SSARS No. 1, you should refer to the other data in 
the compilation report or issue a separate report on the other data. If you decided to document an 
understanding with the entity through the use of an engagement letter, you should include a 
statement in the engagement letter indicating your level of responsibility with respect to the sup­
plementary information, such as:

The other data accompanying the financial statements are presented only for supplementary 
analysis purposes and were compiled from information that is the representation of man­
agement, without audit or review, and we do not express an opinion or any other form of as­
surance on such data.

Question—Is it possible for someone who is a third party to become a non-third party?

Answer—Yes, as long as that party is a member of management. To not be considered a third 
party, the person must meet two tests:

1. He or she is a member of management.

2. He or she is knowledgeable enough about the business to put the information in the proper 
context.
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If the person is not generally knowledgeable about and does not understand the nature of the pro­
cedures applied and the basis of accounting and assumptions used in the preparation of the finan­
cial statements, he or she can be educated and “brought into the loop.” This education can be 
done by other members of management or by the accountant.

Question—What titles should be used on financial statements restricted to management’s use 
only?

Answer—In general, titles such as “Income Statement” or “Balance Sheet” should only be used 
on GAAP financial statements. Appropriate titles for OCBOA financial statements include 
“Statement of Assets, Liabilities, and Equity—Income Tax Basis” or “Statement of Revenues 
and Expenses—Cash Basis.” However, as a result of the restricted nature of these financial 
statements, strict adherence to proper titles is not always necessary. Since these financial state­
ments are designed to meet management’s needs in managing their business, you can use titles 
based on management preference, as long as those titles are not misleading.
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Questions About Prescribed Forms

Question—A client has devised a financial statement presentation form that is not in conformity 
with GAAP. May an accountant prepare compiled financial statements per the client’s presenta­
tion as a prescribed form?

Answer—No. According to SSARS No. 3 (AR sec. 300.02), a form designed by the client is not 
considered to be a prescribed form.

Question—Can an accountant compile financial statements in a prescribed form if he or she has 
audited, reviewed, or compiled financial statements for the same period? Should the accountant’s 
compilation report on the prescribed form refer to the report on the previous service?

Answer—You can compile financial statements in a prescribed form if you have previously 
audited, reviewed, or compiled financial statements for the same period. If the measurement 
principles used in the compiled financial statements in the prescribed form cause such financial 
statements to be materially different from the previously audited, reviewed, or compiled financial 
statements, no reference should be made to the report on the previous service.

Question—Can an accountant attach a prescribed form to compiled or reviewed financial state­
ments as supplementary information?

Answer—Yes. Supplementary information is defined in SAS No. 29, Reporting on Information 
Accompanying the Basic Financial Statements in Auditor-Submitted Documents (AICPA, Pro­
fessional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 551.03) as information outside the basic financial statements 
and not considered necessary for presentation of financial position, results of operations, or cash 
flows in accordance with GAAP. Such information includes:

• Additional details or explanations of items in or related to the basic financial statements

• Consolidating information

• Historical summaries of items extracted from basic financial statements

• Statistical data

• Other material, some of which may be from sources outside the accounting system or outside 
the entity
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Therefore, you may attach a prescribed form to compiled or reviewed financial statements as 
supplementary information, as long as you clearly indicate the degree of responsibility you are 
taking for the supplementary information.

Question—Is an accountant precluded from attaching compiled, reviewed, or audited financial 
statements to a prescribed form?

Answer—No. There is nothing in SSARS that precludes you from attaching compiled, reviewed, 
or audited financial statements to a prescribed form.

Question—An accountant attaches a schedule of officers’ compensation as supplementary in­
formation to a prescribed form. Must the accountant indicate his or her responsibility he or she 
assumes for the additional information?

Answer—Yes. SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.49) requires that you clearly indicate the degree of 
responsibility, if any, you are taking with respect to the supplementary information. If the finan­
cial statements included in the prescribed form are compiled, the compilation report should refer 
to the other data or you can issue a separate report on the supplementary information.

Question—Docs an accountant have to be independent to compile a financial statement in a pre­
scribed form?

Answer—No. However, you would need to include the following as the last paragraph in the 
compilation report on the prescribed form: “I am (we are) not independent with respect to XYZ 
Company.”

Question—Does each page of the prescribed form need to be marked “See Accountant’s Com­
pilation Report?”

Answer—Yes. Each page of the prescribed form should include a reference to the compilation 
report.

Question—Should the accountant sign the preprinted report form or issue a separate report in ac­
cordance with SSARS No. 3?
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Answer—SSARS No. 3 (AR sec. 300.05) states that you should not sign a preprinted report form 
unless it complies with the standard report in SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100) or SSARS No. 3 (AR 
sec. 300). Instead, you should attach the appropriate report to the prescribed form.

Question—A prescribed form is in an electronic format. However, the electronic input does not 
allow for the accountant to include a compilation report. Is the accountant required to send a 
compilation report?

Answer—Yes. To comply with SSARS No. 3 (AR sec. 300) you should append an appropriate 
report to the prescribed form. The report could be sent electronically or manually.

Question—A prescribed form requires that property, plant, and equipment be presented at mar­
ket value rather than at depreciated cost. Should this GAAP departure be identified in the ac­
countant’s report? Can the accountant alter the prescribed form?

Answer—The departure does not have to be identified in the report. In addition, you should not 
alter the prescribed form. SSARS No. 3 (AR sec. 300.03) states that there is a presumption that 
the information required by a prescribed form is sufficient to meet the needs of the body that de­
signed or adopted the form and that there is no need for that body to be advised of departures 
from GAAP required by the prescribed form or related instructions. On the other hand, if there is 
a departure from GAAP, other than departures that may be called for by the prescribed form or 
related instructions, you should follow the guidance in SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.45-.47). If 
you become aware of a departure from the requirements of the prescribed form or related in­
structions, you should consider that departure as the equivalent of a GAAP departure in deter­
mining the effect on your report.

Question—A client has requested an accountant compile the financial statements included in a 
prescribed form. The prescribed form does not specify the basis of accounting to be used in 
completing the form. What basis of accounting should be used?

Answer—If the prescribed form or related instructions do not specify the basis of accounting to 
be used, the presumption is that GAAP should be used. However, departures from GAAP re­
quired by the prescribed form or related instructions would not have to be identified in the report.
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Question—A client prepares its financial statements in accordance with GAAP. The client has 
requested the accountant compile its financial statements included in a prescribed form. The pre­
scribed form does not specify the basis of accounting to be used in completing the form; how­
ever, the client requests that the accountant use the modified cash basis of accounting. Is there 
anything precluding the accountant from honoring the client’s request?

Answer—There is nothing in SSARS that would preclude you from honoring the client’s re­
quest.
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Questions About Review Engagements

Question—Arc management representation letters required for review or compilation engage­
ments?

Answer—SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.32-33) requires that, in a review engagement, you obtain 
a representation letter from members of management whom you believe are responsible for and 
knowledgeable, directly or through others in the organization, about the matters covered in the 
representation letter. Normally, the chief executive officer and chief financial officer or others 
with equivalent positions in the entity should sign the representation letter. A management repre­
sentation letter is not required in a compilation engagement. (However, the AICPA Audit and 
Accounting Guide Personal Financial Statements Guide recommends that practitioners obtain a 
representation letter in all personal financial statement engagements, even in a compilation.)

Question—As part of a review engagement, the accountant has requested a management repre­
sentation letter from management. The current management was not present during all periods 
covered by the review report and will not furnish the management representation letter. What 
options does the accountant have?

Answer—SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.32-.33) requires that, in a review engagement, you obtain 
a representation letter from members of management whom you believe are responsible for and 
knowledgeable about the matters covered in the representation letter. The letter should be signed 
by those members of management who you believe are responsible for and knowledgeable, di­
rectly or through others in the organization, about the matters covered in the representation letter. 
Normally, the chief executive officer and chief financial officer or others with equivalent posi­
tions in the entity should sign the representation letter. If current management was not present 
during all periods covered by your report, you should nevertheless obtain written representations 
from current management on all such periods. SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.53) states that if, in a 
review engagement, a client does not provide you with a signed representation letter, you are 
precluded from issuing a review report on the financial statements and would ordinarily be pre­
cluded from issuing a compilation report on the financial statements. Thus, you would not be 
able to step down to a compilation engagement.

Question—If a client refuses to provide a representation letter in a review engagement, can the 
accountant issue a compilation report?
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Answer—No. SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.32) states that written representations are required 
from management for all financial statements and periods covered by the accountant’s review 
report. In addition, SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.53) states that if, in a review engagement, a client 
does not provide you with a signed representation letter, you would also ordinarily be precluded 
from issuing a compilation report on the financial statements. Thus, you would not be able to 
step down to a compilation engagement.

Question—An accountant has prepared comparative reviewed financial statements. Should the 
management representation letter cover both periods shown in the reviewed financial statements?

Answer—Yes. The representations obtained at the completion of the most recent review should 
address all periods covered by the report, according to SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.32).

Question—What are the differences between analytical procedures performed for an audit and 
for a review engagement?

Answer—There is a subtle difference between analytical procedures performed for an audit en­
gagement and a review engagement. This difference is based on the desired level of assurance. In 
an audit, the analytical procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are fairly presented. In a review, they are performed in connection with inquiries of 
management to provide limited assurance that you are not aware of any material modifications 
that should be made to the financial statements.

The main difference between analytical procedures performed for an audit engagement and those 
performed in a review engagement are that the expectations developed by the accountant in per­
forming analytical procedures in connection with a review of financial statements ordinarily are 
less encompassing than those developed in an audit.

Question—If the accountant performs additional procedures, such as confirmation of receivables 
and observation of inventories in connection with a review engagement, does he or she have to 
change the engagement to an audit?

Answer—No. According to Interpretation No. 13, “Additional Procedures,” of SSARS No. 1 
(AR sec. 9100.46-.49), SSARS makes it clear that the standards for performing compilations or 
reviews of financial statements do not preclude you from performing any procedures that you 
deem necessary or that the client requests. However, you should have a clear understanding with 
the client regarding the services to be performed (preferably in writing), including a description 
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of the report you expect to render. When you, in connection with a compilation or review en­
gagement, plan to perform procedures that are customarily applied during an audit, you may 
wish to place additional importance on whether the understanding with the client should be in 
writing.

Question—If the accountant performs other services for the client (for example, bookkeeping, 
payroll, or income tax), may he or she use the information obtained from these services to reduce 
the amount of inquiries and analytical procedures in a review of the clients financial statements?

Answer—Yes. You may obtain information from a variety of accounting services. SSARS No. 1 
(AR sec. 100.34) states that knowledge acquired in the performance of audits of the client’s fi­
nancial statements, compilation of the financial statements, or other accounting services may re­
sult in modification of the inquiries and analytical procedures. However, you should ensure that 
the documentation in the other engagement files and the review engagement files are adequate to 
support the procedures performed and the conclusions reached.

Question—Is there a minimum level of information needed in a review engagement?

Answer—This is strictly a matter of professional judgment. Most accountants have a standard set 
of inquiries and analytical procedures that are a starting point for every engagement. This stan­
dard set is modified based on economic, industry, and client characteristics. The engagement is 
complete when you have obtained a reasonable basis for expressing limited assurance that there 
are no material modifications that should be made to the financial statements.

Question—An accountant is in the process of reviewing financial statements and has requested a 
management representation letter from the client. The client, due to its limited knowledge of ac­
counting principles, is uncomfortable to make such representations. What should be done?

Answer—A recent AICPA Compilation and Review Audit Risk Alert contains the following il­
lustrative modification to the standard management representation letter that might make these 
clients feel more comfortable:

The financial statements referred to above present fairly the financial position, results of op­
erations, and cash flows of [name of client] in conformity with GAAP. However, because of 
our limited expertise with GAAP, including financial statement disclosure, we have engaged 
you to advise us in fulfilling that responsibility. In connection with the review of the afore­
mentioned financial statements we specifically confirm that...
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Question—Can an accountant review financial statements that omit substantially all disclosures?

Answer—No. According to Interpretation No. 1, “Omission of Disclosures in Reviewed Finan­
cial Statements,” of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 9100.01-02), only financial statements that you 
have compiled may omit substantially all disclosures. Because of the reporting requirements of 
SSARS No. 1, you would not accept an engagement to review financial statements that omit sub­
stantially all of the disclosures required by GAAP. When you have undertaken a review of finan­
cial statements and subsequently find that your client declines to include all required disclosures, 
your review report should include the disclosures omitted from the financial statements. How­
ever, if the information required to be disclosed has not been determined by management or is 
not known as a result of your procedures, you are not required to determine the specific informa­
tion that should be disclosed. In that case, your review report should specifically identify the na­
ture of the omitted disclosures.

42



Questions About Reporting on Compiled or Reviewed Financial Statements

Questions About Reporting on Compiled or 
Reviewed Financial Statements

Question—Does the accountant have to identify each and every measurement departure from 
GAAP or OCBOA?

Answer—If the financial statements are accompanied by a report, each known departure that 
would have a material effect on the financial statements must be either corrected or disclosed, 
along with the effect of the departure on the financial statements (if the effect is known). If the 
accountant believes that modification of the standard report is not adequate to disclose the defi­
ciencies in the financial statements taken as a whole, he or she should withdraw from the com­
pilation or review engagement and provide no further services with respect to those financial 
statements.

If the compiled financial statements are for management’s use only and the accountant does not 
issue a compilation report in accordance with the reporting requirements of SSARS No. 1, a 
statement can be made in the engagement letter that “material departures from GAAP or OC- 
BOA may exist and the effects of these departures, if any, on the financial statements may not be 
disclosed.”

Question—Can the accountant make a statement that the financial statements are “not presented 
in conformity with GAAP or an other comprehensive basis of accounting (OCBOA)”?

Answer—No. Including such a statement in a compilation report would be tantamount to ex­
pressing an adverse opinion on the financial statements taken as a whole, according to Interpre­
tation No. 7 of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 9100.23-.26). Such an opinion can be expressed only in 
the context of an audit engagement.

If the financial statements are accompanied by a report, each known departure that would have a 
material effect on the financial statements must be either corrected or disclosed, along with the 
effect of the departure on the financial statements (if the effect is known). If the accountant be­
lieves that modification of the standard report is not adequate to disclose the deficiencies in the 
financial statements taken as a whole, he or she should withdraw from the compilation or review 
engagement and provide no further services with respect to those financial statements.

Question—A consulting firm has a nonprofit organization as a client. The consulting firm, which 
does not perform accounting services, has engaged a CPA to compile the financial statements of 
the nonprofit organization. Can the CPA compile the financial statements because he or she was 
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engaged by the consulting firm and not the nonprofit organization? And to whom should the re­
port be addressed, the consulting firm or the nonprofit organization?

Answer—SSARS do not preclude you from compiling the financial statements and issuing a 
compilation report in such a situation. However, SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.08) states that you 
should possess a general understanding of the nature of the entity’s business transactions, the 
form of its accounting records, the stated qualifications of its accounting personnel, the account­
ing basis on which the financial statements are to be presented, and the form and content of the 
financial statements. According to TPA section 9150.18, “Bank Engaged a CPA Firm to Com­
pile a Financial Statement of Another Entity,” due to the nature of this engagement, you may not 
be able to attain a sufficient understanding of the not-for-profit organization as required by 
SSARS No. 1. If you decide that you are able to attain a sufficient understanding of the organi­
zation, the compilation report should be addressed to the consulting firm, which is the engaging 
entity.

Question—An accountant is engaged to review a client’s financial statements. The review was 
completed and the financial statements were distributed. Shortly thereafter, the controller con­
tacts the accountant and indicates that a material accrual that would affect the financial state­
ments was omitted and that the financial statements should be revised. Should the new report 
mention that the statements are revised? What date should be used on the report on the revised 
statements?

Answer—SSARS do not address this issue, but the accountant may wish to consider the guid­
ance contained in the auditing standards established by SAS No. 1 Codification of Auditing 
Standards and Procedures (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 561, “Subsequent 
Discovery of Facts Existing at the Date of the Auditor’s Report”), as amended. The reasons for 
the revision usually should be described in a note to the financial statements and referred to in 
the auditor’s report. If the client does not make the appropriate adjustment or disclosure, the ac­
countant should take steps to prevent further reliance on the previously issued report.

When the financial statements are appropriately modified, you should date the review report as 
of the date of the completion of your review procedures on the revised financial statements.

Question—Should an accountant modify his or her compilation or review report because of a 
change in accounting principle?

Answer—The manner of accounting for and disclosing a change in accounting principles de­
pends on the nature of the change as described in APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes. 
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Accounting changes might require (1) a cumulative adjustment (for example, a change from 
first-in, first-out (FIFO) to last-in, first-out (LIFO)), (2) a restatement of prior financial state­
ments (for example, a change from LIFO to FIFO), or (3) neither a cumulative effects adjustment 
nor a restatement of the prior year’s financial statements (for example, a consistent policy of 
changing from an accelerated method to the straight-line method at a specified point in the life of 
an asset to maximize depreciation). However, all accounting changes that result in a cumulative 
adjustment or a restatement must be adequately disclosed in the current year’s financial state­
ments.

SSARS does not require modification of your standard compilation or review report if the ac­
counting change is properly accounted for and disclosed in the financial statements. Nonetheless, 
you may emphasize in a separate paragraph that an accounting change has occurred.

Question—A client who was formerly a sole proprietorship incorporates. Is this considered a 
change in reporting entity and should the compilation or review report be modified?

Answer—APB Opinion No. 20 states that in a change in reporting entity, a different group of 
companies comprise the reporting entity after the change. This type of accounting change is lim­
ited mainly to (1) presenting consolidated or combined statements in place of statements of indi­
vidual companies, (2) changing specific subsidiaries comprising the group of companies for 
which consolidated financial statements are presented, and (3) changing the companies included 
in combined financial statements. Therefore, changing from a sole proprietorship to a corpora­
tion is not a change in reporting entity. SSARS do not require modification of your standard 
compilation or review report in this case. Nonetheless, you may emphasize in a separate para­
graph that an accounting change has occurred.

Question—An accountant compiled tax basis financial statements for a charitable remainder 
trust. The trustee has asked the accountant to include in the section of the report that says “a 
compilation is limited to presenting in the form of financial statements information that is the 
representation of the Trustee . . .” an additional sentence that would state “The financial state­
ments are based on information provided by the client, which includes, in relevant part, monthly 
statements from the investment custodian.” Is it permissible to add this language to the compila­
tion report?

Answer—SSARS do not preclude you from modifying the language in the standard compilation 
report.
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Question—An accounting firm was engaged to review financial statements. Due to a scope 
limitation, the accountant is requested to change the engagement to a compilation. Should the ac­
countant mention the scope limitation in the compilation report?

Answer—No. If you conclude, based on your professional judgment, that there is a reasonable 
justification to change the engagement and if you comply with the standards for the compilation 
engagement, you may issue the compilation report. The report should not include reference to (1) 
the original engagement, (2) any review procedures that may have been performed, or (3) the 
scope limitation that resulted in the changed engagement.

Question—An entity may wish to engage an accountant to report on compiled financial state­
ments each month and to review the financial statements of the entity at year end. May an ac­
countant issue a compilation report on the monthly financial statements and a review report on 
annual financial statements for a period ending on the same date as one of the monthly financial 
statements?

Answer—Yes. According to Interpretation No. 3, “Reporting on the Highest Level of Service,” 
of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 9100.09-.10), you may issue a compilation report on the monthly fi­
nancial statements and a review report on the annual financial statements for a period ending on 
the same date, provided you comply with the applicable standards for each engagement.

Question—An accountant has been engaged to compile financial statements of an entity. During 
the course of the engagement the accountant applies analytical procedures and makes inquiries. 
Is the accountant required to issue a review report? If an accountant is engaged to compile or re­
view financial statements and during the course of that engagement performs certain procedures, 
such as confirmation of receivables and observations of inventory, which are normally per­
formed in an audit, is he or she required to change the engagement to an audit?

Answer—No. SSARS provides the minimum level of procedures that an accountant must per­
form to provide no assurance (compilation) or limited assurance (review) that the financial 
statements do not require any material modifications to be in conformity with GAAP. The ac­
countant may perform any additional procedures that he or she considers necessary to provide 
the appropriate level of assurance.

Question—Can an accountant issue an audit report on the balance sheet and a review report on 
the income statement for the same year?
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Answer—No. SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.02) states if the accountant performs more than one 
service, the accountant should issue the report that is appropriate for the highest level of service 
rendered. If the accountant has audited the balance sheet but not the income statement or the 
statement of cash flows, he or she should adhere to the reporting requirements contained in the 
auditing literature.

Question—An accountant is compiling comparative financial statements for a corporation. In 
year 20X1, its financial statements were prepared on the GAAP basis. In 20X2, the statements 
will be prepared on an income tax basis. How will the compilation report be modified to reflect 
the change in presentation?

Answer—Compiled financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP are not comparable 
to those prepared in accordance with a comprehensive basis of accounting other than GAAP 
(such as the income tax basis). Accordingly, the accountant should not issue a report on com­
parative financial statements if the client does not restate the prior year(s) financial statements. 
However, when only current year financial statements are presented, a change from GAAP to 
OCBOA (or vice versa) does not represent a change in accounting principles as described in 
APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes. Therefore, no justification for the change is required 
and no cumulative adjustment is necessary. It is common practice to present the effect of the 
change in the accounting basis by showing beginning retained earnings as previously reported 
with an adjustment to convert to the new basis. Although not as common in practice, precedent 
also exists for either showing opening retained earnings on the new basis or showing the effects 
of the change as a cumulative-effect adjustment in the income statement.

SSARS does not require you to modify a compilation or review report if the financial statements 
appropriately disclose the change. However, you are not precluded from emphasizing the change 
in a separate paragraph of the report.

Question—An accountant has been asked to compile financial statements for the 12 months 
ended March 31, 20X7. However, the entity’s year end for income tax reporting is December 31, 
20X7. Should the compilation report be modified?

Answer—There is no requirement in the accounting literature for the tax and the financial re­
porting year end to be the same. However, having different fiscal years complicates further any 
interperiod tax allocation the entity may have. There is no requirement to modify the compilation 
report, provided the title of the financial statements is descriptive of the period covered and the 
compilation report clearly indicates the period covered by the financial statements. However, you 
are not precluded from emphasizing the matter in a separate paragraph of the report.
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Question—In 20X1, an accountant compiled and reported on full disclosure financial statements. 
In 20X2, the client has decided to omit all disclosures. May the financial statements be shown 
comparatively?

Answer—No. SSARS No. 2 (AR sec. 200.05) states that compiled financial statements that omit 
substantially all of the disclosures required by GAAP are not comparable to financial statements 
that include such disclosures. Accordingly, the accountant should not issue a report on compara­
tive financial statements when statements for one or more, but not all, of the periods presented 
omit substantially all of the disclosures required by GAAP.

However, the accountant may compile the 20X1 financial statements that do omit substantially 
all disclosures. In this way, the 20X1 and 20X2 financial statements are comparable and may be 
reported on as such. According to SSARS No. 2 (AR sec. 200.29), in this circumstance, you may 
report on the comparative compiled financial statements if you include in your compilation re­
port an additional paragraph indicating the nature of the previous service rendered with respect to 
those financial statements and the date of your previous report. An example of this additional 
paragraph is as follows:

The accompanying 20X1 financial statements were compiled by me (us) from financial 
statements that did not omit substantially all the disclosures required by generally accepted 
accounting principles and that I (we) previously compiled as indicated in my (our) report 
dated March 1,20X2.

Question—When there has been a change in accountants, is it appropriate to mention the name 
of the prior accountant in the report when reporting on comparative financial statements?

Answer—No. According to footnote 9 of SSARS No. 2 (AR sec. 200.17), you should not name 
the predecessor accountant in your report. However, you may name the predecessor accountant if 
you acquired or merged with the predecessor accountant’s firm.

Question—If the accountant agrees to compile financial statements that omit substantially all 
disclosures even though compiled full disclosure financial statements have just been prepared, 
should the accountant make reference to the full disclosure financial statements in the compila­
tion report?

Answer—You may report on compiled financial statements that omit substantially all disclosures 
in accordance with SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.16-.18), provided the omission is not, to your 
knowledge, undertaken with the intention of misleading those who might reasonably be expected 
to use such financial statements. No reference should be made to the full disclosure financial 
statements.
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Question—A client has requested that the accountant compile financial statements that omit sub­
stantially all disclosures required by GAAP. During the course of the engagement, a going con­
cern issue arises. Is it still appropriate to issue financial statements that omit substantially all dis­
closures?

Answer—Yes. Since the financial statement user is alerted that substantially all disclosures have 
been omitted from the financial statements (by adding a paragraph to the compilation report to 
explain the omission), going concern disclosures would not be required.

Although not required, the going concern matter can be disclosed. In this case however, the dis­
closure should be made in the financial statements. Keep in mind that emphasis paragraphs 
should not introduce new information about the financial statements. If the going concern is the 
only disclosure included in the financial statements, it should be labeled as “Selected Informa­
tion—Substantially All Disclosures Required by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Are 
Not Included.” Once disclosed in the financial statements, you may emphasize the matter in a 
separate paragraph of your report.

Question—A client prepares full disclosure statements and omits a required disclosure about a 
going concern issue. Should the accountant modify his or her report?

Answer—Footnote 23 of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.46) states that “normally, neither an un­
certainty, including an uncertainty about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern . . . 
would cause the accountant to modify the standard report provided the financial statements ap­
propriately disclose such matters.” (Emphasis added.) Since the appropriate disclosure about 
going concern has been omitted, you should modify your compilation or review report to identify 
this GAAP departure (the missing disclosure).

Question—If an entity does have a component of comprehensive income and displays the com­
prehensive income in conformity with GAAP, does the wording of the introductory paragraph of 
the compilation or review report need to be modified?

Answer—The accountant should reference the individual financial statements as titled by the cli­
ent. If comprehensive income is reported in the income statement, the client should modify the 
title of the statement (for example, “Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income”).

Question—Can the display of comprehensive income be omitted when issuing a compilation re­
port?
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Answer—Yes. Interpretation No. 25 of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 9100.95-.99) clarifies that when 
an element of comprehensive income is present, the display of comprehensive income may be 
omitted when issuing a compilation report with substantially all disclosures omitted. The Inter­
pretation notes that FASB Statement No. 130 requires the display of comprehensive income 
when a full set of financial statements is presented in conformity with GAAP. However, the dis­
play of comprehensive income can be omitted by identifying the omission in the compilation re­
port or engagement letter (when the compiled financial statements are not expected to be used by 
a third party).

If the accountant compiles financial statements that include all disclosures but omit the display of 
comprehensive income, the omission should be treated as a departure from GAAP. Additionally, 
if an element of comprehensive income has not been computed, for example, unrealized gains 
and losses arising from investments in marketable securities classified as “available for sale,” the 
accountant should consider a departure from GAAP and follow the guidance in SSARS No. 1 
(AR sec. 100.45-.47).

Question—What date should be used on a report for reviewed financial statements or compiled 
financial statements?

Answer—For both compilations and reviews, the date of completion of the appropriate proce­
dures should be used as the date of the accountant’s report.

Question—When an accountant updates a previously issued report for purposes of reporting on 
comparative statements, what date should be used on the report?

Answer—An updated report takes into consideration information that you become aware of 
during your current engagement and re-expresses your previous conclusions or expresses differ­
ent conclusions on the prior-period financial statements as of the date of your current report. 
Therefore, you should use the date of completion of the current engagement for the report.

Question—When prior period financial statements have been revised, what date should be on the 
report?

Answer—According to SSARS No. 2 (AR sec. 200.07), the accountant should report on the fi­
nancial statements as restated. As such, the accountant should report on the financial statements 
in accordance with the compilation or review standards in SSARS No. 1, including the require­
ments regarding dating the report.
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Question—Is an accountant precluded from issuing a compilation or review report on a single 
financial statement, for example, an income statement?

Answer—No. According to SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.15 and 100.43), you may issue a com­
pilation report on a single financial statement and may issue a review report in a single financial 
statement as long as the scope of your inquiry and analytical procedures have not been restricted.

Question—A corporation owns multiple restaurants. Is it permissible to compile financial state­
ments for one of the restaurants?

Answer—Yes. SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.04) states that a financial statement may be that of a 
corporation, a consolidated group of corporations, a combined group of affiliated entities, a not- 
for-profit organization, a governmental entity, an estate or trust, a partnership, a proprietorship, a 
segment of any of these, or an individual.

Question—Should the accountant refer to the country of origin of engagement standards and/or 
accounting principles in compilation or review reports?

Answer—According to Interpretation No. 24, “Reference to the Country of Origin in a Review 
or Compilation Report,” of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 9100.93-.94), you are not required to refer to 
the country of origin in these reports since the reports refer to the American Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants. However, there is nothing to preclude you from making the reference if you 
believe that it is appropriate under the circumstances to include it in the report.

Question—Do compilation and review reports require a signature?

Answer—Yes. According to SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.11 and 100.38), the signature of the ac­
countant or firm may be manual, electronic, stamped, or typed.

Question—A client is involved in a lawsuit, the outcome of which will be determined at a later 
date. Must the accountant include an explanatory paragraph in a compilation or review report?

Answer—No. According to footnote 23 of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.46), if the financial 
statements appropriately disclose the uncertainty, you do not have to include an explanatory 
paragraph to the report. However, SSARS do not preclude you from emphasizing the matter in a 
separate paragraph of the report.
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Question—An accountant has audited the financial statements of a C corporation prepared in ac­
cordance with GAAP of the United States of America. Another accounting firm has audited the 
financial statements of a Hong Kong partnership. The audited financial statements of the Hong 
Kong partnership were not prepared in accordance with GAAP of the United States of America. 
The client has requested a compilation report on the combined U.S. GAAP C corporation state­
ments and the Hong Kong GAAP (non-U.S. GAAP) financial statements for the previously is­
sued audited financial statements. In general, can a compilation report be issued on previously 
audited financial statements? Can financial statements prepared on U.S. GAAP be combined 
with financial statements not prepared on U.S. GAAP?

Answer—With respect to the first part of the question, an accountant may compile consolidated 
financial statements when the financial statements of one or more of the component entities were 
audited as the consolidated financial statements themselves were not audited. However, in this 
case, the financial statements prepared under two separate basis of accounting cannot be com­
bined.

Question—When an accountant is engaged to perform a business valuation of an entity, it may 
be necessary for the accountant to derive financial information to be used in that business valua­
tion from the client’s tax return. This is particularly true if the entity does not have audited, re­
viewed, or compiled financial statements. If an accountant derives financial information from an 
entity’s tax return, and such information is presented as part of the business valuation report, do 
SSARS apply?

Answer—No. As discussed in SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.04), under the definition of a financial 
statement, “financial forecasts, projections and similar presentations, and financial presentations 
included in tax returns are not financial statements for purposes of this Statement.” Therefore, 
even if you have prepared the tax return, you have not prepared financial statements in accor­
dance with SSARS and the financial information derived from the tax return and presented as 
part of a business valuation is not deemed to be submission of financial statements as contem­
plated by SSARS No. 1, according to Interpretation No. 23 of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 9100.89- 
.92).

When, in the course of performing a business valuation engagement, you derive financial infor­
mation from the client’s tax return, or another accountant’s audited, reviewed, or compiled fi­
nancial statements, or client-prepared financial statements, you should refer to the source of the 
financial information and include an indication in the business valuation report that you have not 
audited, reviewed, or compiled the financial information and that you assume no responsibility 
for the information. The following is an example of wording that may be included in the business 
valuation report that incorporates the requirements of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.03):
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In preparing our business valuation report, we have relied upon historical financial informa­
tion provided to us by management and derived from [refer to the appropriate source of the 
information, such as tax return, audit report issued by another auditor, and so on]. This fi­
nancial information has not been audited, reviewed, or compiled by us and accordingly we 
do not express an opinion or any form of assurance on this financial information.

However, if you submit financial statements in the course of performing a business valuation as 
defined in SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.04), then, at a minimum, you should comply with the pro­
visions of SSARS applicable to a compilation engagement.

Question—An accountant compiles financial statements for a client. The company suspects that 
the inventory is inflated and has asked the accountant to observe the physical inventory and ap­
ply additional analytical procedures to the inventory only. The client has asked the accountant to 
detail the procedures in the compilation report and to report that the inventory is fairly stated. 
May the accountant agree to this request?

Answer—No. Although you may perform additional procedures in a compilation, such as ob­
serving the physical inventory and applying analytical procedures, SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 
100.11) states that any additional procedures you perform before or during the compilation 
should not be described in the report.

However, you may enter into an agreed-upon procedures engagement with the client (as a com­
pilation engagement provides no assurance with respect to the financial statements). If you are 
engaged to perform an agreed-upon procedures engagement, you must follow the guidance con­
tained in the Attestation Standards.
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Questions About Supplementary Information

Question—What types of information should be considered supplementary information?

Answer—The term supplementary information is not defined in SSARS. SAS No. 29, Reporting 
on Information Accompanying the Basic Financial Statements in Auditor-Submitted Documents 
(AU sec. 551.03), defines this type of information as information that is presented outside of the 
basic financial statements and is not considered necessary for presentation of financial position, 
results of operations, or cash flows in conformity with GAAP. Such information includes:

• Additional details or explanations of items in or related to the basic financial statements

• Consolidating information

• Historical summaries of items extracted from basic financial statements

• Statistical data

• Other material, some of which may be from sources outside the accounting system or outside 
the entity

Question—Does a chart or stand-alone graphic that is presented alone constitute a financial 
statement? Are charts and graphs considered supplementary information?

Answer—Charts and graphs do not constitute a financial statement. SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 
100.04) defines a financial statement as “a presentation of financial data, including accompany­
ing notes, derived from accounting records and intended to communicate an entity’s economic 
resources or obligations at a point in time, or the changes therein for a period of time, in accor­
dance with GAAP or OCBOA.” Charts and graphs may be considered supplementary informa­
tion, however. The term supplementary information is not defined in SSARS. SAS No. 29 (AU 
sec. 551.03) defines this type of information as information that is presented outside of the basic 
financial statements and is not considered necessary for presentation of financial position, results 
of operations, or cash flows in conformity with GAAP. Such information includes:

• Additional details or explanations of items in or related to the basic financial statements

• Consolidating information

• Historical summaries of items extracted from basic financial statements

• Statistical data
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• Other material, some of which may be from sources outside the accounting system or outside 
the entity

SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.49) requires that you indicate the degree of responsibility, if any, you 
are taking with respect to the supplementary information that accompanies the basic financial 
statements. If charts and graphs are presented as supplementary information, they should include 
a reference to the report such as “See Accountant’s Compilation (or Review) Report.”

Question—What should be done if a client insists that a schedule that provides detail of a line 
item in a basic financial statement be included as part of the basic financial statement?

Answer—SAS No. 29 (AU sec. 551.02) states that the following presentations are considered 
part of the basic financial statements: descriptions of accounting policies, notes to financial 
statements, and schedules and explanatory material that are identified as being part of the basic 
financial statements. Therefore, if the client wishes to include detail of a financial statement line 
item as part of the basic financial statements, this information would not be considered supple­
mentary information.

Question—When an accountant reviews financial statements that are accompanied by supple­
mentary information, should the supplementary information be reviewed or compiled?

Answer—SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.49) requires that you should indicate the degree of respon­
sibility, if any, you are taking with respect to the supplementary information that accompanies 
the basic financial statements.

If the basic financial statements are reviewed, the degree of responsibility you are taking is indi­
cated either in the review report on the basic financial statements or in a separate report on the 
other data. Specifically, the explanation should state that the review was made primarily for the 
purpose of expressing limited assurance that there are no material modifications that should be 
made to the financial statements for them to be in conformity with GAAP, and, according to 
SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.49), either:

• The other data accompanying the financial statements are presented only for supplementary 
analysis purposes and have been subjected to the inquiry and analytical procedures applied in 
the review of the financial statements, and you did not become aware of any material modifi­
cations that should be made to such data, or

• The other data accompanying the financial statements are presented only for supplementary 
analysis purposes and have not been subjected to the inquiry and analytical procedures applied 
in the review of the financial statements, but were compiled from information that is the repre­
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sentation of management, without audit or review, and you do not express an opinion or any 
other form of assurance on such data. (In other words, you are stating that you reviewed the fi­
nancial statements but only compiled the supplementary information.)

In any case, the important thing to remember is to clearly indicate the degree of responsibility 
you are taking for any information accompanying the basic financial statements.

Question—Must the accountant also compile supplementary information that accompanies com­
piled financial statements?

Answer—As noted in the previous question, SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.49) requires that you 
should indicate the degree of responsibility, if any, you are taking with respect to the supple­
mentary information that accompanies the basic financial statements.

If the basic financial statements are compiled, the compilation report should be modified or you 
can issue a separate report on the supplementary information. The report may be modified as 
follows:

I (We) have compiled the accompanying balance sheet of XYZ Company as of December 
31, 20XX, and the related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the 
year then ended, and the accompanying supplementary information contained in Schedules 
A and B, which are presented only for supplementary analysis purposes, in accordance with 
Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the American In­
stitute of Certified Public Accountants.

A compilation is limited to presenting in the form of financial statements information that is 
the representation of management. I (We) have not audited or reviewed the accompanying 
financial statements or supplementary information and, accordingly, do not express an 
opinion or any other form of assurance on them.

If a separate report on the supplementary information is issued, it may read as follows:

I (We) have compiled the accompanying supplementary information contained in Schedules
A and B, which are presented only for supplementary analysis purposes.

A compilation is limited to presenting in the form of financial statements information that is 
the representation of management. I (We) have not audited or reviewed the accompanying 
supplementary schedules and, accordingly, do not express an opinion or any other form of 
assurance on them.

If the basic financial statements are compiled for management’s use only, the engagement letter 
should include the following language:

The other data accompanying the financial statements are presented only for supplementary 
analysis purposes and will be compiled from information that is the representation of man­
agement, without audit or review, and I (we) will not express an opinion or any other form 
of assurance on such data.
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Question—What is the accountant’s responsibility if the client wants to attach client-prepared 
supplementary information to the financial statements that the accountant has compiled or re­
viewed?

Answer—Although you do not have a responsibility to compile or review the client-prepared in­
formation, SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.49) states that you should indicate the degree of responsi­
bility, if any, you are taking with respect to the supplementary information that accompanies the 
basic financial statements. When you have reviewed the basic financial statements, an explana­
tion should be included in the review report, or in a separate report on the other data.

Question—Can financial forecasts or projections be considered supplementary information?

Answer—Yes. However since SSARS No. 1 states that financial forecasts, projections, and 
similar presentations, and financial presentations included in tax returns are not financial state­
ments, the accountant is precluded from compiling or reviewing such information under SSARS. 
SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.49) requires that you indicate the degree of responsibility, if any, you 
are taking with respect to the supplementary information that accompanies the basic financial 
statements. If forecasts or projections are presented as supplementary information, they should 
include a reference to the report.

If the client engages the accountant to report on such information, Chapter 3, “Financial Fore­
casts and Projections,” of SSAE No. 10, Attestation Standards: Revision and Recodification 
(AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1, AT sec. 301), as amended, sets forth the standards for 
engagements related to prospective financial statements. Chapter 3 of SSAE No. 10 (AT sec. 
301) states that you should perform an examination, compilation (not a SSARS compilation, 
however), or agreed-upon procedures engagement, whenever you:

• Submit to your client or others prospective financial statements that you have assembled or as­
sisted in assembling that are or reasonably might be expected to be used by another (third) 
party; or

• Report on prospective financial statements that are or reasonably might be expected to be used 
by another (third) party.
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Questions About Fraud and Illegal Acts

Question—What is an accountant’s responsibility concerning fraud on compilation and review 
engagements?

Answer—SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.05) states that the accountant should establish an under­
standing with the entity that the engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose errors, fraud, or 
illegal acts and that the accountant will inform the appropriate level of management of any mate­
rial errors that come to his or her attention and any fraud or illegal acts that come to his or her 
attention, unless clearly inconsequential. However, in a review engagement, the accountant 
should consider inquiring to members of management who have responsibility for financial and 
accounting matters concerning their knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud affecting the en­
tity involving senior management or others where the fraud could have a material effect on the 
financial statements, for example, communications received from employees, former employees, 
or others. In addition, in connection with a review of financial statements presented in accor­
dance with GAAP, specific written representations are required from management for all finan­
cial statements and periods covered by the accountant’s report regarding:

• Management’s acknowledgement of its responsibility to prevent and detect fraud

• Knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud affecting the entity involving management or oth­
ers where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements, including any 
communications received from employees, former employees, or others

Question—If, during the performance of a compilation or review engagement, the accountant 
suspects that fraud or an illegal act may have occurred, does the accountant need to perform ad­
ditional procedures to ascertain whether the fraud or illegal act, in fact, occurred?

Answer—No, you need not perform additional procedures to ascertain whether fraud or an ille­
gal act, in fact, occurred or the probability that fraud or an illegal act occurred. However, ac­
cording to Interpretation No. 26, “Communicating Possible Fraud and Illegal Acts to Manage­
ment and Others,” of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 9100.100-103), you should consider the impact of 
the suspected matter on your ability to perform inquiries and other review procedures such as 
obtaining a management representation letter and keep in mind that the purpose of the review is 
to express limited assurance that there are no material modifications that should be made to the 
financial statements for the statements to be in conformity with GAAP.
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Question—When during the performance of a compilation or review engagement, the accountant 
suspects that a fraud or illegal act may have occurred, what steps should be taken in performing 
the required communication to management?

Answer—According to Interpretation No. 26 of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 9100.100-.103), when 
you suspect that a fraud or an illegal act may have occurred, you should communicate the matter, 
unless clearly inconsequential, to an appropriate level of management. If the suspected fraud or 
illegal act involves senior management, the matter should be communicated to an individual or 
group at the highest level with the entity, such as the manager (owner) or the board of directors. 
When the suspected fraud or illegal act involves an owner of the business, you should consider 
resigning from the engagement. Additionally, you should consider consulting with your legal 
counsel whenever fraud or an illegal act is suspected.

Question—What other parties should be made aware of the illegal act or fraud?

Answer—The disclosure of possible fraud or illegal act to parties other than the client’s senior 
management is not ordinarily part of your responsibility and in most circumstances would be 
precluded by your ethical or legal obligations of confidentiality. However, the duty to disclose to 
parties outside the entity may exist in the following circumstances:

• To comply with certain legal and regulatory requirements.

• To a successor accountant when the successor decides to communicate with the predecessor 
accountant in accordance with SSARS No. 4, Communications Between Predecessor and Suc­
cessor Accountants (AR sec. 400), regarding acceptance of an engagement to compile or re­
view the financial statements of a nonpublic entity.

• In response to a subpoena.

Because potential conflicts between your ethical and legal obligations for confidentiality of client 
matters may be complex, you may with to consult with legal counsel before discussing such 
matters with parties outside the client.
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Questions About Interim Financial Statements

Question—Is a separate engagement letter required for the interim engagement and the annual 
engagement?

Answer—No. SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.05) only requires that you establish an understanding 
with the client, preferably in writing, regarding the services to be preformed. If the engagement 
is to compile financial statements not expected to be used by a third party, the understanding is 
required to be in writing. If you decide to, or are required to, document the understanding in 
writing, it is very common to utilize one engagement letter for monthly or quarterly interim en­
gagements and the annual engagement. However, nothing precludes you from using separate en­
gagement letters for the interim engagement and the annual engagement.

Question—An accountant has been engaged to compile monthly financial statements for a client. 
As this is a recurring engagement, must the accountant prepare monthly compilation procedure 
checklists and financial statement disclosure checklists?

Answer—SSARS do not require the use of (1) compilation procedure checklists or financial 
statement disclosure checklists in interim or (2) annual financial statement engagements. The use 
of checklists is a matter of professional judgment and firm policy.

Question—Is it permissible to issue cash basis interim financial statements and GAAP basis 
statements at year end?

Answer—Yes. Since the compilation of the interim financial statements and compilation of the 
year-end financial statements were separate engagements, there is no preclusion from the finan­
cial statements being compiled using different bases. However, TPA section 9150.12, “Use of 
Other Comprehensive Basis of Accounting (OCBOA) for Interim Financial Statements and Gen­
erally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for Annual Financial Statements,” notes that a 
privately held company may use OCBOA for interim financial statements and GAAP for year- 
end financial statements. For public companies, OCBOA reporting for interim financial state­
ments is not allowed.
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Question—An accountant compiles quarterly financial statements for a landscaping business. 
Most of the revenues are earned during the summer months. Can the revenue be annualized in 
the financial statements?

Answer—No. APB Opinion No. 28, Interim Financial Reporting, states, “To avoid the possibil­
ity that interim results with material seasonal variations may be taken as fairly indicative of the 
estimated results for a full fiscal year, such businesses should disclose the seasonal nature of 
their activities, and consider supplementing their interim reports with information for twelve­
month periods ended at the interim date for the current and preceding years.” APB Opinion No. 
28 does not, however, allow for the revenue to be annualized in the financial statements.

Question—A company uses a different revenue recognition policy in its interim financial state­
ments than in its year-end financial statements. Is this practice permissible? Should the revenue 
recognition policy be disclosed in the notes?

Answer—No, this practice is not permissible. APB Opinion No. 28 states, “Revenue from prod­
ucts sold or services rendered should be recognized as earned during an interim period on the 
same basis as followed for the full year.” The revenue recognition policy should be disclosed in 
the notes to the financial statements.

Question—During an interim engagement, an accountant compiles the financial statements of a 
client using the gross profit method for valuing inventories. Because of poor economic condi­
tions, the accountant determines that the market value of the inventory is below cost and the de­
cline is not considered temporary. Should the inventory be adjusted to market at the interim date 
or should the adjustment be made at year end?

Answer—APB Opinion No. 28 states that inventory losses from market declines should not be 
deferred beyond the interim period in which the decline occurs, so the adjustment should be 
made at the interim date.

Question—A company has a gain on the disposal of a business unit. Should the gain be reported 
in the interim period or pro rated over the fiscal year?

Answer—APB Opinion No. 28 notes that extraordinary items, gains or losses from disposal of a 
component of an entity, and unusual or infrequently occurring items should not be pro-rated over 
the balance of the fiscal year, but should be reported in the interim period.
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Question—An accountant is engaged to compile quarterly financial statements. During the 
course of the second quarter engagement, the accountant discovers that a check was recorded 
twice in expenses in the first quarter. The amount is material. Should the first quarter interim fi­
nancial statements be corrected?

Answer—APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes, states that correction of an error in the fi­
nancial statements of a prior period discovered subsequent to their issuance should be reported as 
a prior period adjustment. In addition, the nature of an error in previously issued financial state­
ments and the effect of its correction on income before extraordinary items, net income, and the 
related per share amounts should be disclosed in the period in which the error was discovered 
and corrected. Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat the disclosures.

However, the accountant should advise the client to fully inform third-party users currently re­
lying or likely to rely on the financial statements and the associated report of the subsequently 
discovered facts and their impact. If the client refuses to communicate with the third parties, the 
accountant should not agree to compile the financial statements.

Question—An accountant is engaged to review quarterly financial statements. During the third 
quarter the accountant becomes aware the client is involved in a lawsuit. The event that triggered 
the lawsuit arose in the first quarter. The client is able to estimate the damages. Should the first 
and second quarter statements be restated?

Answer—APB Opinion No. 28 states that contingencies and other uncertainties that could be ex­
pected to affect the fairness of presentation of financial data at an interim date should be dis­
closed in interim reports in the same manner required for annual reports. However, APB Opinion 
No. 20 states that correction of an error in the financial statements of a prior period discovered 
subsequent to their issuance should be reported as a prior period adjustment. In addition, the na­
ture of an error in previously issued financial statements and the effect of its correction on in­
come before extraordinary items, net income, and the related per share amounts should be dis­
closed in the period in which the error was discovered and corrected.

Question—An accountant compiles quarterly financial statements for a client using the cash ba­
sis. During the second quarter, the client decides that she wants to prepare the statements using 
the income tax basis of accounting. Do the first quarter statements need to be restated? Must the 
change be disclosed in the notes? Does an explanatory paragraph need to be added to the report?

Answer—When only current period financial statements are presented, it is common practice to 
present the effect of the change in the accounting basis by showing beginning retained earnings 
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as previously reported with an adjustment to convert to the new basis. Although not as common 
in practice, precedent also exists for either showing opening retained earnings on the new basis 
or showing the effects of the change as a cumulative-effect adjustment in the income statement. 
However, according to TPA section 9030.10, “Change From Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP) to An Other Comprehensive Basis of Accounting (OCBOA) or From OC­
BOA to GAAP,” if comparative financial statements are presented, the prior period(s) should be 
restated and presented under the basis to which the company has changed. Restatement is neces­
sary to ensure comparability with all periods presented. In both cases, the change in accounting 
basis should be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. According to SSARS, you are 
not required to add an explanatory paragraph to the compilation report, provided the change is 
appropriately disclosed in the financial statements. However, nothing precludes you from adding 
an explanatory paragraph to the compilation report.

Question—An accountant compiles quarterly financial statements. The second quarter shows a 
loss, but it is estimated that there will be ordinary income for the year. How should the account­
ant apply the annual effective tax rate to record the quarterly tax benefit or expense?

Answer—APB Opinion No. 28 states that at the end of each interim period the company should 
make its best estimate of the effective tax rate expected to be applicable for the full fiscal year. 
The rate so determined should be used in providing for income taxes on a current year-to-date 
basis. APB Opinion No. 28 further notes that the tax effects of losses that arise in the early por­
tion of a fiscal year should be recognized only when the tax benefits are expected to be (1) real­
ized during the year or (2) recognizable as a deferred tax asset at the end of the year in accor­
dance with the provisions of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. An estab­
lished seasonal pattern of loss in early interim periods offset by income in later interim periods 
should constitute evidence that realization is more likely than not, unless other evidence indicates 
the established seasonal pattern will not prevail. The tax effects of losses incurred in early in­
terim periods may be recognized in a later interim period of a fiscal year if their realization, al­
though initially uncertain, later becomes more likely than not. When the tax effects of losses that 
arise in the early portions of a fiscal year are not recognized in that interim period, no tax provi­
sion should be made for income that arises in later interim periods until the tax effects of the pre­
vious interim losses are utilized.

Question—May a peer reviewer select interim engagements when performing peer reviews?

Answer—Yes.
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Questions About Financial Statements Prepared on an Other 
Comprehensive Basis of Accounting

Question—What is considered an “other comprehensive basis of accounting”? What is the 
source of authoritative guidance for OCBOA financial statements?

Answer—The term other comprehensive bases of accounting (OCBOA) refers to bases of ac­
counting other than generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The primary guidance for 
OCBOA financial statements comes from SAS No. 62, Special Reports (AICPA, Professional 
Standards, vol. 1, AU sec. 623). SAS No. 62 (AU sec. 623.04) recognizes the following OC- 
BOAs:

• A basis of accounting that the reporting entity uses to comply with the requirements or finan­
cial reporting provisions of a governmental regulatory agency whose jurisdiction the entity is 
subject. An example is a basis of accounting insurance companies use pursuant to the rules of a 
state insurance commission.

• A basis of accounting that the reporting entity uses or expects to use to file its income tax re­
turn for the period covered by the financial statements.

• The cash receipts and disbursements basis of accounting, and modifications of the cash basis 
having substantial support, such as recording depreciation on fixed assets or accruing income 
taxes.

• A definite set of criteria having substantial support that is applied to all material items appear­
ing in financial statements, such as the price-level basis of accounting.

Question—A client requests that its financial statements previously prepared on the income tax 
basis of accounting be prepared using GAAP. How should the change in accounting basis be re­
flected in the financial statements? Should the change be disclosed in the notes? Does an ex­
planatory paragraph need to be added to the compilation or review report?

Answer—When only current period financial statements are presented, it is common practice to 
present the effect of the change in the accounting basis by showing beginning retained earnings 
as previously reported with an adjustment to convert to the new basis. Although not as common 
in practice, precedent also exists for either showing opening retained earnings on the new basis 
or showing the effects of the change as a cumulative-effect adjustment in the income statement. 
However, according to TPA section 9030.10, if comparative financial statements are presented, 
the prior period(s) should be restated and presented under the basis to which the company has 
changed. Restatement is necessary to ensure comparability with all periods presented. In both 

65



Compilation and Review Engagements—Essential Questions and Answers

cases, the change in accounting basis should be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 
According to SSARS No. 1, you are not required to add an explanatory paragraph to the compi­
lation report, provided the change is appropriately disclosed in the financial statements. How­
ever, nothing precludes you from adding an explanatory paragraph to the compilation report.

Question—Can an accountant accept an engagement to compile or review financial statements 
on one basis of accounting if the accountant previously compiled or reviewed financial state­
ments for the same period on a different basis of accounting?

Answer—Yes. Nothing precludes you from compiling or reviewing financial statements on one 
basis of accounting when you have previously compiled or reviewed financial statements for the 
same year on a different basis of accounting.

Question—How should the statement of cash flows be titled since a statement of cash flows is 
not required when presenting OCBOA financial statements?

Answer—Neither the SSARS, nor SAS No. 62 require specific titles on OCBOA financial 
statements. However, SAS No. 62 (AU sec. 623. 07) states that unmodified GAAP financial 
statement titles should not be used for OCBOA financial statements.

Question—Is a statement of retained earnings required for OCBOA financial statements? Can 
the statement of retained earnings be disclosed in the notes?

Answer—APB Opinion No. 9, Reporting the Results of Operations, states that the statement of 
income and the statement of retained earnings (separately or combined) are designed to reflect, 
in a broad sense, the “results of operations.” Therefore, to present results of operations under 
GAAP, changes in retained earnings must be disclosed. Based on Interpretation No. 14, “Evalu­
ating the Adequacy of Disclosure in Financial Statements Prepared on the Cash, Modified Cash, 
or Income Tax Basis of Accounting,” of SAS No. 62 (AU sec. 9623.90), OCBOA financial 
statements also should disclose the changes in retained earnings when results of operations are 
presented. This disclosure can be made in a separate financial statement, in the notes to the fi­
nancial statements, or as part of another basic statement (such as the income statement or balance 
sheet).
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Question—Can the statement of cash flows be disclosed in the notes to OCBOA financial state­
ments?

Answer—Interpretation No. 14 of SAS No. 62 (AU sec. 9623.94) states that OCBOA presenta­
tions often include a presentation consisting entirely or mainly of cash receipts and disburse­
ments. Such presentations need not conform with the requirements for a statement of cash flows 
that would be included in a GAAP presentation. Therefore, the information could be disclosed in 
the notes to the OCBOA financial statements.

Question—When an accountant is compiling OCBOA financial statements that omit the state­
ment of cash flows, should the accountant reference the omission in his or her report?

Answer—No. Since a statement of cash flows is not required in OCBOA presentations, you do 
not need to reference the omission in your compilation report.

Question—A company prepares its financial statements on the modified cash basis and does not 
present a statement of cash flows. It does have material gains from foreign currency transactions. 
Must a statement of comprehensive income be included?

Answer—According to FASB Statement No. 130, all business entities that have any component 
of comprehensive income must display information about comprehensive income in a financial 
statement having the same prominence as the other basic financial statements. However, Inter­
pretation No. 14 of SAS No. 62 (AU sec. 9623.93) states that if GAAP sets forth requirements 
that apply to the presentation of financial statements, OCBOA statements may either comply 
with those requirements or provide information that communicates the substance of those re­
quirements. The substance of GAAP presentation requirements may be communicated using 
qualitative information and without modifying the financial statement format.

Question—A client wishes to have compiled OCBOA financial statements that omit substan­
tially all disclosures. Where should the accountant disclose the basis of accounting used to pre­
pare the financial statements?

Answer—When you compile and report on financial statements that are presented in accordance 
with an OCBOA and that omit substantially all disclosures, SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.17) re­
quires disclosure of the basis of accounting. This disclosure may be in an attached footnote or in 
a note on the face of the financial statements. If disclosure is not made as part of the financial 
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statements, modification of the compilation report would be required. For example, the following 
sentence would be added to the first paragraph of the standard compilation report: “The financial 
statements have been prepared on the accounting basis used by the Company for Federal income 
tax purposes, which is a comprehensive basis of accounting other than generally accepted ac­
counting principles.”

Question—When financial statements are prepared using GAAP, significant accounting policies 
should be disclosed in the notes. Are OCBOA financial statements required to disclose signifi­
cant accounting policies?

Answer—Yes. The disclosures required for OCBOA financial statements are essentially the 
same as those required for GAAP financial statements.

Question—A client requests that an accountant compile income tax basis financial statements to 
omit disclosures. Can the accountant comply?

Answer—A common misconception about OCBOA financial statements is that the requirements 
for disclosure are significantly different from those for GAAP financial statements. According to 
SAS No. 62 (AU sec. 623.09), OCBOA financial statements should include all informative dis­
closures that are appropriate for the basis of accounting used. Thus, the disclosures required for 
OCBOA financial statements are essentially the same as those required for GAAP financial 
statements. Specifically, informative disclosures can be classified in the following categories:

• Summary of significant accounting policies

• Financial statement items

• Presentation requirements

• Other information
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Questions About Personal Financial Statements

Question—Does SSARS apply to the submission of personal financial statements?

Answer—Yes. SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100.04) states that a financial statement may be that of an 
individual.

Question—What is the authoritative guidance for preparing personal financial statements?

Answer—SOP 82-1, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Personal Financial Statements, 
provides guidance on measurement and presentation of personal financial statements. The 
AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Personal Financial Statements Guide, provides guidance 
on performance and reporting for audit, review, and compilation of personal financial statements 
in accordance with SOP 82-1.

Question—Do the same accounting principles apply when preparing personal financial state­
ments as when preparing for-profit business financial statements?

Answer—No. Before the issuance of SOP 82-1, the historical cost basis was considered GAAP 
for personal financial statements. At that time, GAAP for commercial entities (historical cost) 
was generally applicable to those personal financial statements. However, SOP 82-1 established 
the current value basis of accounting as GAAP for personal financial statements.

Question—Is a client representation letter required when compiling or reviewing personal finan­
cial statements?

Answer—A client representation letter is required for all review engagements; a client represen­
tation letter is not required by SSARS for compilation engagements. However, the AICPA Audit 
and Accounting Guide Personal Financial Statements Guide, recommends that one be obtained. 
Furthermore, because of the informal nature of most personal financial records, some practitio­
ners obtain written representation from the client to confirm the oral representations made in per­
sonal financial statement compilation engagements.
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Question—What are the SSARS requirements for personal financial statements included in per­
sonal financial plans?

Answer—SSARS No. 6 (AR sec. 600) provides an exemption from SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100) 
for personal financial statements that are included in written personal financial plans prepared by 
an accountant, and specifies the form of written report required under the exemption. You may 
submit a written personal financial plan containing unaudited personal financial statements to a 
client without complying with the requirements of SSARS No. 1 (AR sec. 100) when all the fol­
lowing conditions exist:

• You establish an understanding with the client, preferably in writing, that the financial state­
ments—

— Will be used solely to assist the client and the client’s advisers to develop the client’s per­
sonal financial goals and objectives.

— Will not be used to obtain credit or for any purposes other than developing these goals and 
objectives.

• Nothing comes to your attention during the engagement that would cause you to believe that 
the financial statements will be used to obtain credit or for any purposes other than developing 
the client’s financial goals and objectives.
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APPENDIX A—OTHER SOURCES OF INFORMATION

The following AICPA publications deliver valuable guidance and practical assistance for your 
engagements.

• Annual Compilation and Review Alert

• Practice Aid, Review Engagements: New and Expanded Guidance on Analytical Procedures 
and Inquiries

• Accounting Trends and Techniques

• Practice Aid, Preparing and Reporting on Cash- and Tax-Basis Financial Statements

• Practice Aid, Understanding and Implementing SSARS No. 8

• Audit and Accounting Manual

To obtain AICPA publications, receive information about AICPA activities, and find help with 
your membership questions, call AICPA Service Center Operations at (888) 777-7077 or visit 
www.cpa2biz.com.

Continuing Professional Education

The AICPA offers a number of self-study and online CPE courses that are valuable to CPAs per­
forming compilation and review services. Visit www.cpa2biz.com for a complete list of CPE 
courses.

AICPA Technical Hotline and Ethics Hotline

Technical questions about GAAP, OCBOA, accounting, auditing, compilation engagements, re­
view engagements, or other technical matters may be addressed to the AICPA’s Accounting and 
Auditing Technical Hotline. AICPA staff will research the question and respond with their an­
swer. The Technical Hotline can be reached at (888) 777-7077.

In addition to the Technical Hotline, the AICPA also offers an Ethics Hotline. Members of the 
AICPA’s Professional Ethics Team answer inquiries concerning independence and other behav­
ioral issues related to the application of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct. The Ethics 
Hotline can be reached at (888) 777-7077.
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